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          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Will everyone

          3  please take their seats. Good afternoon. This is a

          4  meeting on the Committee on Youth Services of the

          5  City Council. My name is Ken Fisher, Council Member

          6  from Brooklyn, I am joined today by Council Member

          7  Perkins of Manhattan, Council Member Lopez of

          8  Manhattan, and Council Member Robinson of Brooklyn,

          9  who is also the chair of our Subcommittee on

         10  Juvenile Justice.

         11                 The topic of our hearing today is

         12  keeping track of New York City's children, a report

         13  that was recently issued by the Citizens Committee

         14  for Children. It has some interesting findings for

         15  us on the kinds of indicators we should use to

         16  measure the overall societal health of young people

         17  in New York City and how the City is responding to

         18  their needs.

         19                 In addition to that, we will be

         20  hearing from some of the people who are also active

         21  in the field and have developed some other

         22  indicators that are important, in terms of measuring

         23  the progress we have made in meeting the needs of

         24  young people and also identifying areas where the

         25  City of New York should be taking additional or
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          2  different steps.

          3                 We are going to be hearing from some

          4  of the young people themselves, and this Committee

          5  has encouraged that type of participation and we

          6  welcome the young people to City Hall and hope that

          7  you find the experience as meaningful as we will.

          8                 If you are here to testify in

          9  connection with our topic today, please make sure

         10  that you see the sergeant-at-arms at the table on

         11  the side and fill out a witness slip so that we know

         12  to call your name.

         13                 I want to make one additional comment

         14  before we proceed with the testimony; and that is,

         15  while this is not a budget hearing today, the

         16  Council Youth Committee will take up the Mayor's

         17  proposed budget in a few weeks, the Mayor released

         18  his Executive Budget today and proposes some $20

         19  million of cuts for programs for young people,

         20  principally in the delinquency prevention area.

         21                 At a time when national attention is

         22  focused on a problem of alienation of young people,

         23  I think that the Mayor's proposed cuts to the

         24  programs that provide opportunities for young people

         25  in New York City are simply unacceptable, and I

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            5

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  think that we are going to have to speak up loud and

          3  clearly and make sure that this decision is

          4  reversed. It is unfair to the young people who are

          5  looking for opportunities to prepare themselves for

          6  the millennium, it is unfair to the families who

          7  rely on these services, and it is unfair to the

          8  citizens of New York City because it is

          9  short-changing an investment that we are making or

         10  should be making in our future. I know this is not

         11  the direct purpose of the hearing today, but the

         12  Mayor's proposal is so critical that we do have the

         13  opportunity by highlighting the existing lack of

         14  services for young people to focus attention on why

         15  these cuts are simply unacceptable, and we will take

         16  this up in more detail between now and when we have

         17  our budget hearings and publicly at the budget

         18  hearings.

         19                 I can tell you, and I think I speak

         20  for all of the members of the Youth Committee and

         21  virtually every member of the Council, that we will

         22  fight very aggressively to see that the Mayor's

         23  proposed cuts to young people, services for young

         24  people are not included in the final budget. If

         25  anything, we should be increasing services to young
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          2  people and not cutting them.

          3                 Let me recognize Council Member

          4  Perkins.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you,

          6  Mr. Chairman. I am going to ask for your indulgence

          7  and allow me to leave. I have an emergency in my

          8  district precisely on this subject, and I really

          9  wanted to be here to participate in this hearing. I

         10  am a supporter of this particular effort that is

         11  being made to educate us and the community at large

         12  about the health of our children in these various

         13  ways, and I am, like you and my colleagues on this

         14  Committee, very concerned about the draconian budget

         15  cuts that have been proposed today against the youth

         16  in the Mayor's budget.

         17                 So, I would ask that you forgive me

         18  for having to leave, but that you do not consider my

         19  absence as any lack of support, but quite the

         20  opposite, that there is something going on in my

         21  district related to young people that I really need

         22  to attend to right away.

         23                 So, I apologize to one and all for

         24  having to leave.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Thank you very

          3  much.

          4                 Okay, we will begin from hearing from

          5  Gail Nayowith, Executive Director of the Citizens

          6  Committee for Children. If you want to come up,

          7  please.

          8                 Gail, do you want some of the kids to

          9  come up now? Why don't you bring them up and then

         10  they can introduce themselves.

         11                 If you would proceed. Identify

         12  yourself. We are taping these hearings, so you have

         13  to state your name and affiliation and then you can

         14  proceed with your testimony.

         15                 Gail, use the mic, and make sure that

         16  the red light is off.

         17                 MS. NAYOWITH: Good afternoon. My name

         18  is Gail Nayowith, and I am the Executive Director of

         19  Citizens Committee for Children of New York, which

         20  is a multi-issue independent children's advocacy

         21  organization, working to ensure that every child in

         22  New York City is healthy, housed, educated and safe.

         23                 I am very pleased to be here today

         24  and I want to thank Council Member Fisher and the

         25  Members of the Youth Services Committee for holding
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          2  this important hearing on the quality of life of New

          3  York City children and on our report, Keeping Track

          4  of New York City's Children.

          5                 Let me say first that the hearing

          6  couldn't happen on a better day. First of all, it is

          7  take our daughter to work day, and there is no

          8  better way to show young people how the government

          9  works or demonstrate the important role they can

         10  play in a public policy debate about priorities that

         11  are now going on at City Hall, then to provide them

         12  with an opportunity to testify at a City Council

         13  hearing about important issues that are affecting

         14  their lives.

         15                 The fact that the Mayor released the

         16  Executive Budget today is also instructive and it

         17  will serve as a practical lesson in civics.

         18                 The young people here today will

         19  learn firsthand about the Mayor's priorities for the

         20  City. They can decide for themselves, whether his

         21  budget proposal will make the City a better place

         22  for children.

         23                 I will talk about keeping track

         24  accompanied by two groups of young people who will

         25  provide a real life counter point to the data we
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          2  collected in the report.

          3                 In testifying before you today, they

          4  will provide a real time, real world context for the

          5  facts of the report.

          6                 I am grateful that they have chosen

          7  to be here today to tell their own stories and to

          8  reflect on their own experiences growing up in New

          9  York City.

         10                 We also recognize the efforts of the

         11  staff at Edenwald Gunhill Neighborhood Center, the

         12  Center for Family Life in Sunset Park, Henry Street

         13  Settlement, the Girls' Club and Forest Hills

         14  Community House, who encouraged and supported the

         15  young people testifying before you today and who

         16  provide high quality youth services that we count on

         17  every day in our communities.

         18                 So, where the people will reflect on

         19  life in their own neighborhoods, Sunset Park,

         20  Williamsbridge/Wakefield, Forest Hills, East Harlem

         21  and the Lower East Side, keeping track captures

         22  trends. It contains the accumulated data collected

         23  regularly by government agencies for all children in

         24  all neighborhoods across New York City.

         25                 Despite the differences in format,
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          2  the young people and the report tell the same story

          3  about the hopes, dreams and sadly, the harsh reality

          4  lived by too many New York City children.

          5                 The report is being released at a

          6  time of great uncertainty, where public policies are

          7  swinging back and forth between individual

          8  entitlement and parental responsibility

          9  philosophies, and where state and City government do

         10  battle daily over the cost of care.

         11                 No one has been more affected by this

         12  upheaval than children and children's programs,

         13  which had been caught in the crossfire of

         14  conflicting approaches and confused accountability

         15  with the result being increasing poverty, poor

         16  school performance, and more child abuse and

         17  neglect.

         18                 Despite the economic boom and

         19  significant increases in employment and median

         20  household income, and a well-recorded decline in

         21  public assistance caseloads, an unprecedented number

         22  of babies are being born into poverty.

         23                 Keep in mind that the data in keeping

         24  track describes the real life experiences of two

         25  million children living in the five boroughs of New
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          2  York.

          3                 Please think of each statistic as a

          4  child. Taken together, the data in keeping track

          5  offers the most accurate and comprehensive portrait

          6  available today about children and the quality of

          7  their lives in New York City.

          8                 Please note too that we scoured

          9  government's own data to find good news, because we

         10  know how much everybody wants to believe that things

         11  in New York City are getting better. So do we.

         12                 Unfortunately for our children, we

         13  didn't find much to crow about.

         14                 Instead, we found 2 million futures

         15  in jeopardy and a city that is rife with divisions -

         16  by geography, race and income - divisions that

         17  threaten the City's future.

         18                 This reality won't shock the cynics

         19  among us but it will send a chill through the heart

         20  of most New Yorkers who have come to believe that

         21  things in this City are getting better.

         22                 Even when we found a rare bit of good

         23  news, like improvements in infant and child health,

         24  our joy was dampened when we saw how poorly New York

         25  City children stacked up against their peers and the
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          2  rest of the state or the country as a whole. So, I

          3  apologize for sharing facts that will disappoint

          4  you, or run counter to what you have been hearing

          5  from some elected officials. The sad truth is that

          6  we have been collecting data on child well-being in

          7  New York City since the early 1990s, through the

          8  terms of two mayors, two governors, and cross

          9  political party, and I have to say that no matter

         10  how you slice it, things are not that good for

         11  children.

         12                 The data show that New York City is

         13  far away from our goal at Citizens Committee of

         14  ensuring that every child who lives here is healthy,

         15  housed, educated and safe. So I am going to start by

         16  telling you what we found.

         17                 First of all, New York City has more

         18  children than any other City in the country. One out

         19  of every four New Yorkers is a child. And while

         20  there have been some notable improvements in the

         21  quality of life for adult New Yorkers, the good

         22  times have not extended to our children. Not

         23  everyone in Gotham is thriving.

         24                 In fact, everyday life for too many

         25  New York City children can be characterized as
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          2  dangerous, dirty, depressing and deprived. Your

          3  folders include personalized information about how

          4  children are faring in one neighborhood in your

          5  Councilmanic district. It also includes information

          6  by borough, by race ethnicity and it includes a

          7  ranking of neighborhoods by level of risk.

          8                 If you look at the posters behind me

          9  or the sheets in your folders, you fill find the

         10  information that I am going to refer to now. The

         11  first is the sheet on ten facts about New York City

         12  children, which is all the way to my right.

         13                 These facts are cause for grave

         14  concern, because every day in New York City three

         15  babies die before their first birthday, 182 babies

         16  are born poor, 36 babies are born to teenagers, 30

         17  babies are born to mothers who received inadequate

         18  prenatal care, 30 babies are born low birth weight,

         19  every day 760,000 children live in poverty, almost

         20  8,000 children are homeless, 50,000 children are on

         21  a waiting list for child care, every three days a

         22  young person is murdered, every day 47 percent of

         23  all elementary and middle school students read below

         24  grade level and every day 146 children reported

         25  abused or neglected.
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          2                 The next chart that I will refer to

          3  is the chart that says healthy, it's a map. Keeping

          4  track ranks child well-being in the City's 59

          5  community districts, across a range in categories

          6  including poverty, health, youth development,

          7  community life, child safety, education and

          8  environmental quality. And it shows that risks

          9  cluster in certain neighborhoods.

         10                 The trends reporting in Keeping Track

         11  between 1990 and 1998 show good and bad news. It

         12  shows more children living in poor families, more

         13  babies born poor, and a slight decrease in the

         14  percentage of babies born to teen mothers, but many

         15  fewer children receiving public assistance. It shows

         16  significant improvements in infant and child health,

         17  linked to targeted investments and specialized

         18  programs in the highest risk communities. It shows

         19  more homeless children but better condition of

         20  rental housing. It shows more children receiving

         21  mental health services and very long waits for first

         22  appointments.

         23                 It shows slightly worse reading and

         24  math scores, but more children graduating from high

         25  school in four years.
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          2                 It shows more youth arrested but

          3  significantly fewer violent deaths and less violent

          4  crime in City neighborhoods overall.

          5                 And we found a dramatic increase in

          6  hazardous incidents in communities where children

          7  live.

          8                 The next map is the housing map. The

          9  number of homeless families is increasing. More

         10  children are born poor. As I said before, 52 percent

         11  of all babies born in New York City are born into

         12  poor families. This is a significant increase since

         13  1990, it's a 19 percent increase. This reflects a

         14  very disturbing trend of cross race and ethnic

         15  groups, particularly for Asian and white babies

         16  where the percent of babies born poor doubled

         17  between 1990 and 1996.

         18                 Poverty among Latino babies continued

         19  to increase to 75 percent during the same period,

         20  while the percent of African-American babies born

         21  poor decreased slightly to only 60 percent.

         22                 The next map is education. More than

         23  1 million children attend New York City public

         24  schools. More schools are performing poorly and

         25  despite the very small improvements between 1995 and
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          2  1997, more than half of all students cannot read at

          3  grade level, and four out of ten students can't do

          4  math at grade level.

          5                 Safety.

          6                 The data show that children aren't

          7  safe at home or in the communities where they life.

          8  More children have been abused and neglected and

          9  sufficiently in danger that they are removed from

         10  their homes and placed in foster care.

         11                 After a significant decline in the

         12  number of children placed in foster care from 1991

         13  to 1995, placements have begun to climb again. But

         14  even for children who are safe in their own home,

         15  too many are exposed to hazardous air pollutants and

         16  forced to breath toxic air emissions.

         17                 There are three major points that I

         18  would like you to take away from my testimony today.

         19                 The first is the vast economic

         20  disparity that cuts through the heart of our City,

         21  depriving children of opportunities they need to

         22  become successful, self-sufficient adults.

         23                 This inequity is captured on data

         24  sheets in your folders, it shows the grave

         25  disparities for children across race, ethnic groups
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          2  and between New York City children and their peers

          3  in the state and the United States.

          4                 You will also see evidence of

          5  economic disparity when you look at City spending on

          6  children's services. The chart on page 36 of Keeping

          7  Track shows this quite clearly.

          8                 So, despite data which indicates

          9  deteriorating child well-being, services that could

         10  help improve things for children continue to face

         11  budget cutbacks.

         12                 The second point is that for New York

         13  City Children, geography is destiny. The

         14  neighborhood a child grows up in determines their

         15  future. Your folders include borough by borough

         16  breakdowns of data on child well-being so you can

         17  see for yourself what I mean.

         18                 Briefly stated, children living in

         19  Mott Haven, Hunts Point, Morrisania, University

         20  Heights and East Tremont in the Bronx,

         21  Manhattanville, Central Harlem and East Harlem in

         22  Manhattan, and Bedford Stuyvesant, Crown Heights

         23  North and Brownsville in Brooklyn, are likely to

         24  experience more risks than children living in any

         25  other part of the City. And the final point, which
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          2  is, as the cumulative impact of multiple risks on

          3  child well-being, and that the cumulative impact of

          4  multiple risks on child well-being creates almost

          5  insurmountable barriers to later success.

          6                 Research has shown that risks to

          7  child well-being have a cumulative and negative

          8  affect on child development.

          9                 A 1993 Harvard University study

         10  reported that the more risk factors present, the

         11  greater the damaging impact each has on a child. If

         12  a child has two risk factors occurring, it increases

         13  the likelihood of a poor outcome four times, and a

         14  child who is exposed to four risks occurring

         15  together is likely to have a damaging consequence

         16  ten times.

         17                 To be sure, keeping track is not a

         18  light read. It reveals some harsh truths about real

         19  life for children in our City, but it is not a book

         20  without hope, it is a book that links problems and

         21  solutions. It shows the power of strategic

         22  investment, and the value of preventive programs for

         23  children.

         24                 For instance, Keeping Track shows

         25  that for every dollar investment in preschool
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          2  education, we reap a return of six dollars and lower

          3  cost for special education, public assistance and

          4  crime programs. It shows that a $2 million

          5  investment in day care, home visiting and graduation

          6  incentive programs prevents 269 serious crimes,

          7  saving over $11 million in later prison costs.

          8                 We believe that keeping track

          9  provides an antidote to despair by offering New

         10  Yorkers the tools that they can use to improve

         11  conditions in their own neighborhoods.

         12                 All across the City there are

         13  parents, young people, business schools and

         14  community and civic organizations working together

         15  with or alongside government to make things better

         16  for children. And many of them use Keeping Track as

         17  a guidebook to measure their progress from year to

         18  year.

         19                 We produced Keeping Track for these

         20  New Yorkers and for people like you, members of the

         21  City Council, who care about children and the future

         22  of this City.

         23                 The book is provided free to parents.

         24  We spent 18 months collecting and analyzing the data

         25  in Keeping Track and we are going to spend even more
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          2  time working with concerned New Yorkers and elected

          3  and appointed officials as they use the data to make

          4  the City a better place for children.

          5                 Because of the work we have done on

          6  Keeping Track, it has become very clear to us that

          7  the City and State are not doing enough to meet the

          8  needs of our children.

          9                 Children in New York City should not

         10  have to compete for safe child care, good schools or

         11  year-round after school and youth development

         12  programs. What we want is strategic investment where

         13  it will do the most good, in child care schools and

         14  after school and youth development programs. These

         15  services have a mediating effect on poverty, they

         16  reduce the effects of deprivation, they also build

         17  on a child's strength and they level the playing

         18  field, giving all children a chance to do better.

         19                 These programs provide young people

         20  with safe, supervised, constructive activities, they

         21  are developmental, not remedial. And they also

         22  provide parents with the peace of mind that comes

         23  from knowing that their child is taken care of while

         24  they work.

         25                 The Council can step in and make sure
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          2  that kids are not disadvantaged by the Mayor's

          3  budget proposals. You can use Keeping Track to make

          4  decisions about which neighborhoods are most in need

          5  of additional resources. Other things that you can

          6  do with keeping track include identifying new youth

          7  risk indicators, for inclusion in the Mayor's

          8  Management Report, making City data on kids more

          9  accessible to the public, improving City agency data

         10  agency collection and reporting by race and

         11  ethnicity and by community district, and mandating

         12  that City agencies track and report capacity data

         13  for all children in youth programs.

         14                 For instance, we are dying to know

         15  how many unduplicated children and youth are served

         16  by each program operated directly or through

         17  contract with the City each year.

         18                 We want the City and the state to

         19  step up and do a better job delivering services

         20  when, where and how kids need them. We need to do a

         21  better job of helping New York City kids beat the

         22  odds. And as the young people on the panel will

         23  convey so eloquently, and as any New Yorker will

         24  tell you, there isn't any magic to this formula,

         25  just a little common sense plan and some thoughtful
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          2  investments.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 We have been joined by Council

          7  Members Espada and Stabile.

          8                 Do you want to have the young people

          9  testify and then we will take some questions?

         10                 MS. NAYOWITH: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Okay, then why

         12  don't you go ahead.

         13                 MS. NIKKIA: Thank you, Councilman

         14  Fisher, for the opportunity to testify today.

         15                 My name is Nikkia Barber, and I am 15

         16  years old and I attend Harry S. Truman High School

         17  in the Bronx. I worked at and attended programs at

         18  Edenwald Gunhill Neighborhood Center. I thought

         19  things would be better in my neighborhood if there

         20  were more after school programs and evening

         21  programs.

         22                 I think we should have more after

         23  school programs so when the kids get out of school

         24  they could stay out of trouble and have a safe place

         25  to be, other than hanging out in a street and
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          2  getting into trouble.

          3                 Me, as a freshman in high school, I

          4  would like to start practicing for my SATs and they

          5  don't start practicing until the tenth grade, so

          6  being that I go to after school programs, they

          7  should have classes to help prepare me for that and

          8  other educational things that kids need help with.

          9  And not only educational stuff, but they should have

         10  like teams and stuff, because kids need other

         11  activities other than education also.

         12                 So, I would like to thank you,

         13  Councilman Fisher, for giving me the opportunity

         14  today.

         15                 MS. CRUZ: Thank you for the

         16  opportunity to testify today. My name is Jazmine

         17  Cruz, I am 15 years old and I attend Baruch College

         18  Campus High School. I am President of the Urban

         19  Fourth Youth Council at Henry Street Settlement.

         20                 My neighborhood is --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Could you just

         22  pull the mic a little closer?

         23                 MS. CRUZ: Did you hear anything I

         24  said?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Yes.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            24

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2                 MS. CRUZ: Okay. My name is Jazmine

          3  Cruz. I am 15 years old, and I am President of the

          4  Urban Fourth Youth Council. I attend Baruch College

          5  Campus High School.

          6                 My neighborhood, the Lower East Side,

          7  is full of community resources; however, during the

          8  evening hours, our community closes the doors to the

          9  youth, due to lack of finances. Most people are from

         10  low-income families, and don't have the needs to go

         11  other places than the streets, so most times that is

         12  where you will find the youth.

         13                 The programs that have opened their

         14  doors to the youth and have been helpful to me are

         15  programs at Henry Street Settlement, like LEAP Urban

         16  Forth and SYEP.

         17                 Henry Street has given me a place to

         18  go and given me the opportunity to better myself and

         19  to become a leader.

         20                 My goal in life is to become a doctor

         21  in the field of psychiatry or a lawyer. I plan on

         22  going to Yale, Harvard or Princeton.

         23                 In order to achieve these goals,

         24  Henry Street is helping me by giving me the

         25  confidence, strength and support I need.
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          2                 But without any finance increases,

          3  there may not be a chance for other students to

          4  receive the same kind of support I had in programs

          5  for children after school, on the weekends and

          6  during the summer. It takes, and I quote, "it takes

          7  an entire village to raise a child." If a community

          8  cannot offer a child support at all times through

          9  programs, then ladies and gentlemen, the job of

         10  those raising these children is not being done.

         11                 Thank you for allowing me the

         12  opportunity to testify.

         13                 MR. TREHO: Good afternoon, Councilman

         14  Fisher and members of the Committee. Thank you for

         15  allowing me the opportunity to testify today.

         16                 My name is Diojenes Treho, I am

         17  President of the Youth Council in Sunset Park. I am

         18  a high school senior, I also work for the Center for

         19  Family Life at PS 314.

         20                 While growing up we must take many

         21  things into account. One of these such things is the

         22  quality of life. The quality of life in Sunset Park,

         23  to be more exact.

         24                 I have been in Sunset Park since the

         25  age of three, so I know my neighborhood pretty well.
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          2                 Throughout recent years I have

          3  started to notice changes within Sunset Park - some

          4  for the better, and some for the worse.

          5                 I no longer see fights breaking out

          6  on street corners or drug dealers dealing drugs on

          7  street corners. I know and understand that just

          8  because I don't see this, it does not mean that it

          9  doesn't happen. But I also know that the

         10  aforementioned things do not go on as openly as

         11  before.

         12                 There are many programs in Sunset

         13  Park which can make a serious impact on kids and

         14  teenagers. One of these such programs is the Center

         15  for Family Life, the beacon program PS 314.

         16                 I first joined this program when I

         17  was in the second grade. I left the program for a

         18  brief period of time and then came back to it

         19  through the Summer Youth Employment Program.

         20                 Being in this after school program

         21  helps to keep kids off the streets, it gives kids

         22  guidance, it helps them to see what is right and

         23  what is wrong.

         24                 When I left the CFL, I always knew I

         25  would return to it some day, and I did. I felt the
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          2  need, the obligation to do for these kids what was

          3  done for me.

          4                 We want our children to grow up to be

          5  such persons that ill-fortune, if they meet with it,

          6  will bring out strength in them, and that good

          7  fortune will not trip them up but make them winners.

          8                 Outreach is what these programs do

          9  and they are highly effective at it.

         10                 To provide for the future is part of

         11  one's responsibility in life. I think that without

         12  the children in our presence, we will have no

         13  future. Outreach is one of the most important things

         14  that an individual can do. If the aforementioned

         15  programs have done so much now, imagine what they

         16  can do on a wider scale.

         17                 I hope for a future in which there

         18  would no longer be a need for prevention,

         19  intervention and rehabilitation programs. I see a

         20  place where children can play in playgrounds without

         21  the fear of there being a shoot-out. I see a place

         22  where teenagers are prospering in what they pursue,

         23  where we are no longer stereotyped as generation X,

         24  Y or Z for that matter. This is my Sunset Park.

         25  These things will only be possible if we organize
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          2  more programs like the Center for Family Life, so

          3  that young kids can open their eyes, not only to

          4  their potential, but to that of others as well.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Thank you very,

          7  very much.

          8                 MS. NAYOWITH: I think group number

          9  two has to come up, but you guys shouldn't stay too

         10  far away in case they have questions for you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: While the other

         12  panel of young people is coming up, let me note that

         13  testimony of this kind is very important for our

         14  deliberations, because what it allows us to do is

         15  put a human face on the statistics.

         16                 I want to thank all of you for coming

         17  down here today and let you know that it is a very

         18  meaningful experience for all of us. And listen,

         19  with term limits, who knows, any one of you might be

         20  sitting up here in the not too distant future, so I

         21  am glad you are getting an early start on the

         22  process.

         23                 I also want to announce that this

         24  Committee has been holding a series of Youth

         25  Speakouts around New York City to give young people
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          2  like you the opportunity to come forth and share

          3  their experiences of growing up in New York and the

          4  kinds of services that they feel they need.

          5                 The next in our series will be on

          6  April the 27th, next Tuesday, from 4:00 to 6:00 at

          7  New Dorp High School on Staten Island. So far almost

          8  1,000 young people have come forward to share their

          9  New York life experiences with us and it has been a

         10  very useful experience for the Council members and

         11  for the broader audience that is anticipated. So, we

         12  invite everyone to come down on April 27th, Tuesday,

         13  from 4:00 to 6:00 to New Dorp High School in Staten

         14  Island for the Council's next Youth Speakout.

         15                 MS. CAMPO: Thank you, Councilman

         16  Fisher, for the opportunity to be here today.

         17                 My name is Adriane Campo, I am a

         18  17-year-old senior at Forest Hills High School in

         19  Queens. I recently applied for City Technical

         20  College and was accepted. I plan to attend this

         21  fall.

         22                 This was not always my plan for my

         23  future. I really planned on just taking any job and

         24  working out the rest of my life accordingly. It was

         25  this opportunity and the support of the College and
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          2  Career Counselors at the Forest Hills Community

          3  House to help me make my decision, that decision of

          4  my life.

          5                 I have heard about the proposed

          6  budget cuts of $20 million to Youth Services. The

          7  first thing I thought of was the passage from the

          8  Declaration of Independence, it states that whenever

          9  any form of government becomes destructive of these

         10  ends, the life, liberty and the pursuit of

         11  happiness, it is the right of the people to alter or

         12  to abolish it, and to institute new government,

         13  having its foundations on such principles and

         14  organizing its powers in such form as for them, to

         15  affect their safety and happiness. Well, we are the

         16  people to whom it refers to. And this government is

         17  destructive to not only my happiness, but the

         18  millions of youth who are not here to speak today.

         19                 These cuts will exacerbate already

         20  the touch conditions in which we live in. Drop-out

         21  rates are at their highest and teen parents are

         22  coming in second. Yet, this does not seem to matter

         23  to our Mayor.

         24                 Because of this, these children would

         25  always receive the best of the best. I come from a
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          2  single parent home and my community is my family,

          3  and I also want the best for them. These cuts will

          4  tear into us. Please do not allow this to happen.

          5                 Thank you for your time.

          6                 MS. WILLIAMS: Hi. Thank you for

          7  allowing me to talk to you today.

          8                 My name is Chawntae Williams, I am a

          9  sophomore at the Forest Hills High School in Queens.

         10  I am here to plead with the New York City Council to

         11  validate my importance as a member of this society.

         12                 I come from a middle class family of

         13  six. I am the eldest. Which for those who don't know

         14  means I am the one who takes care of everybody while

         15  my parents are at work. I have very little time for

         16  myself, it is only because of the Forest Hills

         17  Community House and its youth programs like Youth

         18  Employment, that I have an outside focus on what I

         19  want to do with my life.

         20                 It is due to the after school program

         21  that the responsibility of my younger siblings is

         22  taken off of me. The community house reminds me that

         23  I am young and that I can have a life outside of my

         24  family. They have exposed me to so many different

         25  things, ranging from going to meet the Governor in
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          2  Albany, to Whitewater Rafting in Pennsylvania. These

          3  may seem like small things to you but it made a big

          4  difference for my life.

          5                 When young people like myself get an

          6  opportunity to do something, anything, we end up

          7  wanting to do more. I am one of the lucky ones. I

          8  have been given an opportunity to contribute to my

          9  community. I am now a staff member of the

         10  Intergenerational Work Study Program, which was

         11  founded by the Department of Aging. These cuts may

         12  not hurt me in small ways, but I am not the one I am

         13  worried about, remember, I am the big sister.

         14                 These cuts directly hurt my brothers

         15  and sisters, plus I will have to quit my job because

         16  there is no after school program in any other

         17  services to look after them while I work.

         18                 These cuts tell me that I am not a

         19  priority in the view of the City. It also tells me I

         20  have in a different society that is run by an

         21  uncaring Mayor who probably cares more about keeping

         22  the Yankees than helping me build a future.

         23                 So, again, I need this Council to

         24  validate my place as a member of society.

         25                 Thank you very much.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            33

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2                 MS. KUTWAL: Thank you, Council Member

          3  Fisher for the opportunity to testify today. My name

          4  is Rashim Kutwal. I am an 18-year-old high school

          5  senior from Forest Hills, Queens. I come from a

          6  hard-working middle class Indian family. My younger

          7  brother, Bobby, was born severely handicapped. You

          8  can imagine, growing up was not at all easy or

          9  typical.

         10                 When I was 14 I became a member of

         11  the Forest Hills Community House. The Community

         12  House helped me to visualize my goals and

         13  aspirations for the future.

         14                 It also enabled me to deal with and

         15  handle the various situations that confronted me at

         16  school and at home.

         17                 For four years I have had the best

         18  help anyone could get, through the programs and the

         19  staff at the Forest Hills Community House.

         20                 Unfortunately, in those four years I

         21  have also seen program after program go down due to

         22  the lack of funding.

         23                 Now that I am an adult, the threat of

         24  a $20 million budget cut towers over the programs to

         25  help make me the person I am today.
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          2                 While growing up I have had the

          3  advantage of a stabilized system and many kinds of

          4  youth support services, from individual counseling

          5  to advocacy. Eventually I went from service receiver

          6  to service giver.

          7                 I am now helping the system that

          8  helped me. I currently hold two positions at the

          9  Community House. During the afternoon, I work with

         10  the homebound senior citizens and at night I am a

         11  peer counselor.

         12                 Working as a service provider I see

         13  all of the effort and work it takes to make a

         14  difference, not only for the youth but for the

         15  community as well.

         16                 The young people I work with need

         17  more help than the City is currently providing. I

         18  feel it is unfair that Mayor Giuliani is willing to

         19  take away $20 million from the Youth Services

         20  Program. These programs are helping build the future

         21  of New York City. Just because teens cannot vote him

         22  out of office does not mean that we are useless and

         23  unworthy of support or irrelevant to this City. We

         24  are its lifeline. We are the changes and the future.

         25  Don't count us out so quickly.
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          2                 Thank you for your time and support.

          3                 MR. DALY: Thank you, Mr. Fisher, for

          4  your time and support. My name is Fabian Daly, I go

          5  to Vanguard High School. I am in the 9th grade, the

          6  school is located 317 East 68th Street. I am a part

          7  of the adolescent program, one of the adolescent

          8  programs at the Citizens Advice Bureau. I live at 70

          9  East 180th Street. I believe that the quality of

         10  life in my neighborhood is not so good because of

         11  certain programs that are not able to give us the

         12  proper, the proper activities that we would like to

         13  do because of cuts, budget cuts and different types

         14  of drawbacks because of the budget cuts that

         15  happened before.

         16                 There is not enough activities for

         17  kids and enough opportunities for us to go on to

         18  become better people.

         19                 From what I have experienced from

         20  going to school, I had to do a report a couple of

         21  months ago on some -- a report for my class, and my

         22  teacher told me not to go to the library in my

         23  neighborhood because they didn't have the proper

         24  materials that I would need to finish the report, so

         25  I had to go to a library that was more uptown

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            36

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  because they have more resources in that library, so

          3  that is one of the reasons why I am here today, to

          4  tell you that it is not fair for us to make it.

          5                 But on the other hand, I have been in

          6  such programs, like the High Envisions Program that

          7  enabled me to play basketball. I am in a leadership

          8  training class. I took a computer class which the

          9  next year enabled me to teach younger children the

         10  basic things about computers. It helped me a lot and

         11  they enrolled me into a video production class at

         12  the Bronx Museum of Art so that I could follow my

         13  dreams. I want to make a movie some day, and my hope

         14  is to become a real estate agent, and this program

         15  and the programs that are provided is going to help

         16  me to become what I want to be.

         17                 Thank you for allowing me to testify.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Thank you very

         19  much.

         20                 Before we continue, I just want to

         21  acknowledge that we have a group visiting us today

         22  from the Beth Rachael High School in Borough Park

         23  which I have visited, and I want to welcome you to

         24  the Youth Services Committee of the City Council.

         25                 This hearing is very much about you.
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          2  This is a presentation of a report that was done on

          3  Keeping Track of New York City's Children, and

          4  talking about the needs of young people and some of

          5  the implications of that for policy-makers, so you

          6  have come on a good day, and thank you, we hope you

          7  enjoy your visit to City Hall.

          8                 I wanted to ask you whether or not

          9  there has been any response to this report from the

         10  Administration?

         11                 Do you have the sense that they found

         12  this information useful? The budget was only

         13  released today, but from the brief chance that you

         14  have had to consider it, do you think that the

         15  Administration is paying sufficient attention to the

         16  needs of young people in New York?

         17                 MS. NAYOWITH: Well, I think it is a

         18  really mixed bag. I mean, the Mayor did something

         19  interesting technically today where he did a series

         20  of maps around which showed communities where there

         21  were the most murders and the highest crime rates,

         22  and what he talked about was the strategic

         23  allocation of resources in neighborhoods where crime

         24  is the greatest, and he made the recommendation or

         25  he sort of acknowledged the success of that kind of
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          2  an effort where with appropriate information and

          3  looking at maps and targeting resources he could --

          4  the City has been able to make a very significant

          5  dent in crime.

          6                 We have not seen the same kind of

          7  mapping done as it relates to children services,

          8  with the exception of child welfare. But in

          9  virtually all of the other areas, the resources are

         10  not allocated that way. And so it sort of raises a

         11  host of other questions.

         12                 When we first released the report in

         13  February, we got a fairly tepid response from the

         14  Mayor's Office. People basically said, I think it

         15  was the press spokesperson who said that the Mayor

         16  stands by his record.

         17                 That is pretty much what we got. The

         18  budget itself, as I said, is a fairly mixed bag.

         19  There are some parts of it that are okay and there

         20  are some parts of it that are really problematic.

         21  And so I think we need to do a little bit more

         22  investigating to figure out where the real

         23  weaknesses are. But two that I just want to point

         24  out:

         25                 There is no obvious mention of child

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            39

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  care services, and the youth cuts that were

          3  projected in the Financial Plan still hold. So that

          4  is obviously unacceptable to us. I don't think that

          5  anybody could say it more eloquently than the young

          6  people themselves did, but we sort of are hoping

          7  that you all, as you do every year, are going to

          8  sort of push back the forces that are not as

          9  interested in funding youth services and sort of

         10  deliver some resources to these young people. We

         11  think that is important.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: I want to note

         13  for the record that administration officials from

         14  the Department of Youth and Community Development,

         15  the Department of Juvenile Justice and the New York

         16  City Department of Employment were all invited to

         17  testify at today's hearing. As of now, no one from

         18  any of those agencies has indicated to our Counsel

         19  that they are here to testify in connection with

         20  this report.

         21                 Council Member Lopez.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I am interested

         23  in speaking, having a dialogue with every one of the

         24  young people who are sitting here.

         25                 I am curious to know, how did you
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          2  learn about these hearings? Any one of you?

          3                 MS. WILLIAMS: Well, we have Theresa

          4  who is here with us today, she will tell us about

          5  anything that is going on that has to deal with

          6  youth services or anything that happens in our

          7  communities, and if we would like to have access,

          8  like here today, if we want to come and speak about

          9  it, and today we gladly said yes, we want to.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then if you

         11  don't have any access or any contact with this

         12  program, you would have never learned about this

         13  hearing happening today?

         14                 MS. WILLIAMS: That is exactly right.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Have you ever,

         16  before being involved with this organization, know

         17  about hearings that occurred in City Hall and how

         18  the government functions in the sense of assigning

         19  monies that operate these programs? Any one of you?

         20                 MS. WILLIAMS: No, Ma'am.

         21                 MS. KUTWAL: No.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then this is

         23  the first time that you did learn about this

         24  procedure and how the budget is allocated and how

         25  the monies are distributed?
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          2                 MS. CAMPO: I think some of us have

          3  had some kind of participation in getting money to

          4  run programs at our center. The peer counselors,

          5  both of us are peer counselors, we actually write up

          6  grants and things that we get some money to start up

          7  programs, but we actually have never been in City

          8  Hall, as you know, to discuss youth issues.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: How old is each

         10  one of you?

         11                 MS. CRUZ: I am 15.

         12                 MS. CAMPO: Seventeen.

         13                 MS. KUTWAL: Eighteen.

         14                 MR. DALY: 15.

         15                 MS. BARBER: Fifteen.

         16                 MS. WILLIAMS: Seventeen.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: The person who

         18  said that she is 18 is registered to vote?

         19                 MS. KUTWAL: Me? Not as yet. I just

         20  turned 18 in January. Not yet.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: It is April.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: My last

         23  question to all of you, or any one of you; what else

         24  are you planning to do to make sure the government

         25  doesn't steal your future?
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          2                 MS. CAMPO: As you know, I take part

          3  in the Youth Congress that you started, and I plan

          4  to be an active member in that. I plan from now on

          5  to watch hearings that are on TV. I plan to know

          6  everything that is going on. Now that I know that

          7  these things do happen, how these things get done, I

          8  plan to make it my business to be aware of

          9  everything that goes on and to fight for what I

         10  think I need for my community.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And the rest of

         12  you, are you planning to do something? Or are you

         13  planning just to come today here and go back to your

         14  programs?

         15                 MS. WILLIAMS: Well, last year, me and

         16  Adriane, we went to a Youth Congress meeting up in

         17  Albany where we spoke with the Governor, Governor

         18  Pataki, and --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON:-- I will

         20  tell the Mayor that we have a problem. We have a

         21  problem. The phone needs to ring off the hook. I

         22  will say that publicly, I don't have a problem

         23  because people know that I will speak up and say

         24  what needs to be said when it needs to be said. And

         25  when other people don't want to hear it either.
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          2                 But you need to pick up the

          3  telephones and call the Mayor's Office and say,

          4  look, we have a problem, $20 million will just

          5  devastate youth programs in the City of New York. We

          6  have seen through the years how it has continually

          7  grown and grown and grown. While there is a decrease

          8  in education, an increase in prisons. That is not

          9  the future that we see for the children of New York

         10  City. Prison is not the program, and you have to say

         11  that to the Mayor, too, prison is not the program.

         12                 At some point in time the Mayor has

         13  to get it, that there are other programs and

         14  services that we need in the City of new York to

         15  improve the quality of life and it does not mean

         16  arresting all of the children of the City of New

         17  York.

         18                 It is obvious that you are here, you

         19  are participating, the Mayor needs to hear from you

         20  individually and collectively.

         21                 Again, I want to applaud your efforts

         22  in being here today and being so articulate and

         23  having the courage to speak out and say what is on

         24  your mind. So, I just want to thank you for being

         25  here today, and of course I will continue to be here
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          2  to raise questions.

          3                 I want to know from you, are you

          4  willing to pick up the telephone and call the

          5  Mayor's Office and tell him there is something wrong

          6  in this City, are you willing to do that? So, please

          7  include that in your strategies because a petition,

          8  some postcards, some letters from your organizations

          9  will begin to make the difference. And you say you

         10  are going to demonstrate in your local areas, you

         11  may consider that you might have to come a little

         12  closer to this building as well to make your

         13  presence known.

         14                 Thank you so much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Thank you,

         16  Council Member Robinson.

         17                 I want to just elaborate for a moment

         18  that on May 11th, Tuesday, May 11th, from 3:00 to

         19  6:00, hundreds of young people are going to rally

         20  outside programs all over New York City, we are

         21  going to take this fight into the streets of this

         22  City, we are going to let people know in their

         23  neighborhoods how many young people are

         24  participating in these programs and how many young

         25  people are going to be out on the streets

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            45

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  unsupervised if the Mayor's budget cut goes through.

          3  So, stay tuned May 11th all over New York City we

          4  are going to show the Mayor how important these

          5  programs are to our young people, the families of

          6  New York and the future of New York City.

          7                 Thank you all for coming today. Thank

          8  you very, very much.

          9                 We have a few other witnesses.

         10                 Jessica Lee. Michelle Yanche. Francis

         11  Mendez and Christopher Ambrose, if you would all

         12  come up and we will take you each, and then we have

         13  one additional witness that we are waiting for who

         14  is on the way.

         15                 MS. YANCHE: Good afternoon. My

         16  testimony has two parts.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: The first part is

         18  you have to tell us your name.

         19                 MS. YANCHE: Right. My name is

         20  Michelle Yanche, from Neighborhood Family Services

         21  Coalition. I just want to make sure that you each

         22  have a copy of the written testimony, plus a small

         23  version of this map that is right behind you,

         24  because I will be referring to it.

         25                 Good afternoon. As I said, my name is

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            46

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  Michelle Yanche, and I am here today to testify on

          3  behalf of the Neighborhood Family Services

          4  Coalition.

          5                 The Coalition is a group of service

          6  providers and advocacy organizations that are

          7  committed to ensuring that all young people have

          8  access to safe structured spaces in their

          9  neighborhoods where they can participate in

         10  activities that build their skills, develop their

         11  talents and provide them with opportunities to make

         12  positive contributions in their communities.

         13                 As part of this commitment the

         14  Coalition focuses on a Citywide network of youth

         15  programs funded by the City's Department of Youth

         16  and Community Development.

         17                 I also organize a broader network of

         18  advocacy organizations of which Citizens Committee

         19  is also a part, called the Emergency Campaign to

         20  Reinvest in Youth Programs, through which it is that

         21  group that developed the map that is behind me and

         22  that you have copies of.

         23                 First, I want to thank Councilman Ken

         24  Fisher and all of the members of the Youth Services

         25  Committee for convening this hearing on the state of
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          2  children in New York City, giving us all an

          3  important opportunity to look at how we are doing

          4  and what we still need to do to make New York City a

          5  great place to grow up. And of course, a

          6  much-deserved thank you to my colleagues at Citizens

          7  Committee for Children for creating an update and

          8  keeping track and for the incredible work they do

          9  every day on behalf of the children in New York

         10  City.

         11                 Let me begin with an overview of the

         12  map that stands behind me.

         13                 The map overlays two sets of data,

         14  New York City's youth population, age 21 and under,

         15  in 1996 and the site and funding source of all youth

         16  programs currently funded by the Department of Youth

         17  and Community Development in Fiscal Year 1999, which

         18  is the current fiscal year.

         19                 The map is intended to provide an

         20  overview of the locations and types of youth

         21  programs that are currently provided, as well as the

         22  percentage of young people living in different areas

         23  of the City. As with any data, however, there are

         24  limitations to what these data are able to depict.

         25                 First the sub-borough districts that
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          2  are drawn on the map are not equal in size. In other

          3  words, one district may contain more young people

          4  than another simply because it is a larger

          5  geographical area. Therefore, the respective

          6  shadings must be interpreted carefully.

          7                 When looking at any individual area,

          8  its shading is intended only to provide a sense of

          9  how many young people live there, based on the 1996

         10  total youth population of approximately 2,162,084,

         11  and that is specifically age 21 and under.

         12                 Of this one percent equals

         13  approximately 21, 625 youth, two percent

         14  approximately 43,250, three percent approximately

         15  64,875.

         16                 Second, it is important to keep in

         17  mind that the dots represent youth programs intended

         18  only to show the programs' location and funding

         19  source. Overall the dots do not provide useful

         20  information on the size of the program, how many

         21  youth are served, whether the program is a five-day

         22  per week team center, a weekend little league or a

         23  summer camp.

         24                 And while some of the programs are

         25  self-explanatory, for example, the black squares
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          2  show the beacon programs, which are more or less

          3  equal, this is not the case at all with programs

          4  such as YDDP which vary in every way from size to

          5  shape to type to how many young people are served by

          6  the program and what day of the week or even what

          7  time of the year the program is operated.

          8                 Finally, the dots representing youth

          9  programs are not drawn to scale. As a result, some

         10  districts appear to be saturated with youth

         11  programs, which can give the impression that all

         12  youth living in the district have access to a youth

         13  program when that may not at all be the case, to

         14  illustrate, assuming that a district in the one to

         15  two percent range, with is 21, 626 to 43,250 has 20

         16  youth programs, each serving an average of 300

         17  youth, plus one beacon, which is required to serve

         18  at least 1,700 youth a year.

         19                 In this district the total number of

         20  youth served would be 7,700.

         21                 As this example illustrates, if our

         22  goal is to ensure that all youth have access to a

         23  youth program, we are not quite there yet.

         24                 I also summarized -- provided which I

         25  will summarize, an overview of what has happened to
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          2  youth services since 1994, which is Fiscal Year '95.

          3  Just in brief, there were massive cuts that were

          4  delivered to this system in Fiscal Years '95 and '96

          5  and gradually since that time, through the efforts

          6  of the City Council, restorations had been made and

          7  additional expansions have been made, particularly

          8  in the beacon program, which was doubled, and the

          9  initiation of the After 3:00 program and a newly

         10  initiated effort for immigrant youth programs. As a

         11  result, specifically over the investments made over

         12  the last year, we have just now surpassed the level

         13  of funding that we had for youth programs in 1994.

         14                 I also diverged from the testimony to

         15  give an overview of the Executive Budget. Since I

         16  had already known what was in the financial plan and

         17  was probably widely optimistic that it would be

         18  different today, unfortunately it is not. So, let me

         19  tell you what the Executive Budget does propose for

         20  youth programs.

         21                 As some of the earlier speakers said,

         22  the overview is a $20 million proposed cut to youth

         23  services.  Specifically this would eliminate all

         24  City funding for YDDP programs, for the City Council

         25  and Borough President discretionary funds, the $5
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          2  million investment that was added to create the

          3  After 3:00 Program, as well as a few other smaller

          4  individual cuts.

          5                 Let me, for you Council Members that

          6  have a copy of the map, and I know that others in

          7  the audience won't be able to see the larger map,

          8  but maybe they can look afterwards, let me give you

          9  a sense of what that means.

         10                 Looking at your map, every one of the

         11  red stars, which represents YDDP programs, all of

         12  the red circles which represents the discretionary

         13  funds, all of the green triangles that represent the

         14  After 3:00 program, would be eliminated.

         15                 What that means is that 75 black

         16  squares, which are the beacon programs, and a

         17  handful of the hollow green diamonds, which are

         18  other specific categories like Street Outreach, the

         19  Neighborhood Youth Alliance and runaway homeless

         20  programs would remain.

         21                 In pure number terms that means that

         22  of the currently over 1,300 different individual

         23  youth programs that you see parted on that map,

         24  there would be about 1,200 of them eliminated.

         25                 So, essentially it would dramatically
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          2  reduce the number of youth programs that we have in

          3  New York City.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Can you

          5  guesstimate how many young people would be losing

          6  services?

          7                 MS. YANCHE: Well, the Commissioner in

          8  his testimony on the financial plan, the then

          9  Commissioner Oesterreich, had said that the

         10  Department was currently providing services for

         11  about 950,000 young people, and then he gave

         12  specific examples of the numbers that were provided

         13  by certain programs which happened to be the ones

         14  that were remaining. Overall, it was probably a loss

         15  of about 800,000 programs for young people, or

         16  800,000 slots, according to his numbers.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Thank you very

         18  much.

         19                 MS. YANCHE: One other thing that I

         20  really want to just quickly focus on, and that is

         21  the elimination of City funds for YDDP. It is a

         22  very, very important funding stream. As you can see

         23  from looking at your map, it is covered with red

         24  stars. Those are programs that are funded through

         25  this funding stream, YDDP, which is the foundation
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          2  funding source of youth programs, and the foundation

          3  funding that community groups use to create

          4  programs.

          5                 The grants are relatively small,

          6  compared to such as the beacon program. The average

          7  grant is about $75,000, with ranging some smaller

          8  and some larger. The reason this is most important

          9  is because it is the only funding source in New York

         10  City that allows a community group to specifically

         11  design a program for the needs of the young people

         12  in that neighborhood, meaning that it can take, and

         13  it does take the form of after school programs,

         14  little leagues, dance classes, computer training,

         15  employment, employment training and opportunities.

         16  It takes the shape of programs at different times.

         17  It provides programs after school, but also in the

         18  evenings, on the weekends, and the summer, the

         19  summer camp programs. That is also one of the

         20  reasons it is extremely critical because essentially

         21  it is the main source of funding for community

         22  groups to provide programs during those other times.

         23                 It also is an important source for

         24  the smaller community groups that don't and probably

         25  shouldn't try to take on the task of providing a
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          2  beacon.

          3                 Some of this funding, for example,

          4  goes to churches and synagogues and mosques to

          5  provide specific after school programs or mentoring

          6  programs, or recreational programs, and that is a

          7  really important piece of the youth service network

          8  in New York City that we really don't want to lose.

          9                 This system that we have right now

         10  just cannot be replaced by only a network of beacon

         11  programs.

         12                 The beacons, as important as they

         13  are, were never intended to be the sole system of

         14  youth programs and that is what the Executive Budget

         15  proposes, and you can see it very visually when you

         16  look at the map how much would be gone if this

         17  proposal were implemented.

         18                 We are, as you can see, we are moving

         19  in completely the wrong direction.

         20                 As the Citizens Committee for

         21  Children document also shows, it is that not only do

         22  we have a lot of people in New York City, but that

         23  population is growing. According to Citizens

         24  Committee report, there were 453,633 young people

         25  between the ages of 15 and 19 in 1996, 474,000
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          2  essentially between 10 and 14, 524,000 between five

          3  and nine, and 554,000 under five. What this means is

          4  that by the Year 2001, there will be 30,000 more

          5  children between five and nine, 50,000 more between

          6  10 and 14, and 20,000 more between 15 and 19.

          7                 Given this, and given the fact that

          8  we are not currently meeting the needs of young

          9  people that we have now, we need to be looking at

         10  how we can expand this system, certainly not

         11  contracting it, or decimating it, which is really

         12  what the Executive Budget proposes.

         13                 I will just get to the end of my

         14  testimony to sum up and say that we extend our

         15  gratitude to the Youth Services Committee and the

         16  entire Council for continuing to make people a top

         17  priority and for consistently working to ensure that

         18  all young people have access to programs and

         19  opportunities that support them in becoming

         20  successful and skilled adults.

         21                 We urge you to do all that you can to

         22  block the cuts from the Executive Budget and protect

         23  every dollar we currently have invested in youth

         24  programs, and as the process moves forward, we urge

         25  you to take the opportunity that is presented by the
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          2  significant and increasing budget surplus to make

          3  New York City an even better place for young people.

          4                 Thank you for this opportunity to

          5  testify.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 I just want to make two

          9  announcements. One is, what I am going to do is ask

         10  each member of the panel to give us their testimony

         11  and then we will do questions and answers after each

         12  of you have spoken.

         13                 I wanted to welcome another segment

         14  of the group from the Beth Rachel School in Borough

         15  Park Brooklyn, which I mentioned before I have had

         16  the opportunity to visit, and welcome to the Youth

         17  Services Committee.

         18                 Who is next?

         19                 MR. MENDEZ: Good afternoon, Chairman

         20  Fisher and members of the Youth Services Committee.

         21  My name is Francis Mendez and I am an Advocacy

         22  Coordinator for Covenant House New York.

         23                 Covenant House New York has been

         24  working with homeless and at-risk urban youth for 27

         25  years, we are the City's largest non-profit
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          2  adolescent care agency serving this population. We

          3  operate two crisis residences in Manhattan, one

          4  long-term transitional residence in Manhattan and

          5  school-based programs and community resource centers

          6  in the Bronx, Brooklyn, Manhattan and Queens.

          7                 During 1998 we served approximately

          8  9,000 young men and women primarily between the ages

          9  of 16 to 21 by providing residential and

         10  non-residential services which included vocational

         11  training, job placement, primary and preventive

         12  health care, legal services and counseling services.

         13  Nearly 90 percent of the young people seek our

         14  services are from the New York Metropolitan area.

         15                 We applaud the efforts of the

         16  Citizens Committee for Children in putting together

         17  the Keeping Track report. The report is a resource

         18  that we utilize and is very helpful to us.

         19                 Although there are many areas covered

         20  in the report that concern us, today we would like

         21  to focus on youth employment. Poverty and

         22  unemployment are among the various areas our clients

         23  have to overcome as they transition into adulthood.

         24  The Keeping Track report indicates that while in

         25  1996 the unemployment rate among adults was eight
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          2  percent, the unemployment rate among adolescents was

          3  29 percent, more than double.

          4                 These statistics are troubling to us.

          5  An overwhelming number of the young people who come

          6  to us are from some of the City's poorest

          7  neighborhoods. Many of these young people express

          8  concerns about their future and their ability to

          9  live independently. In our programs we emphasize to

         10  young people that a job is a critical step toward

         11  combatting poverty and achieving independence.

         12  However, employment is a difficult endeavor for

         13  inexperienced young people when the competition for

         14  entry level jobs is still, since many older men an

         15  women formerly on public assistance are now vying

         16  for entry level jobs.

         17                 In addition, there are other

         18  challenges that young people must face, some may

         19  have had an education that had prepared them to

         20  become competitive in the job market, some may have

         21  a criminal history that excludes them from certain

         22  jobs. These difficulties are augmented for youth

         23  that are homeless. Unlike other young people who are

         24  applying for work, they have no address to use on an

         25  application, no phone to make or receive a phone
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          2  call or no proper attire for an interview.

          3                 In response to the employment needs

          4  of our clients, Covenant House New York developed a

          5  regional training center located at our 17th Street

          6  site in Manhattan.

          7                 The Center is an employment program

          8  designed to serve the educational and vocational

          9  needs of our clients. RTC provides job preparedness

         10  workshops, job training programs, job placement and

         11  career development.

         12                 RTC also has a continuing education

         13  program that offers GED classes tutoring, SAT

         14  preparation, college guidance and placement and

         15  tuition assistance.

         16                 We work with individuals at every

         17  level, for young people who have never completed a

         18  job application, to young adults who have already

         19  begun to establish a career path.

         20                 One of the most important elements of

         21  RTC is community-based job assistance programs. The

         22  RTC staff works closely with our community program

         23  staff at the various Covenant House New York

         24  community centers and school-based programs located

         25  throughout New York City. Staff members collaborate
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          2  to provide clients with job-readiness training, as

          3  well as ongoing assistance once they have entered

          4  the labor force.

          5                 The results of our employment program

          6  have been encouraged. Last year RTC placed

          7  approximately 1,000 young people in jobs. This

          8  effort would not have been possible without the

          9  support of the private sector businesses. During the

         10  past 12 years we have established relationships with

         11  over 800 businesses in New York City. These

         12  companies have provided and continue to provide

         13  internships, apprenticeships, training assistance

         14  and jobs to young people in our programs. The

         15  success of our efforts reinforces our belief that if

         16  you provide young people with the appropriate

         17  support to conquer economic disadvantages, including

         18  job training, employment and educational support,

         19  young people can and will succeed. Thus, we are

         20  concerned that the City continues to shift funding

         21  away from community-based organizations that provide

         22  services for all the adolescents.  In a time when

         23  unemployment among adolescents is high, such a

         24  policy impedes the City from effectively addressing

         25  and supporting the legitimate needs of all the
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          2  adolescents.

          3                 We urge the City to revert this trend

          4  and work together with the private and non-profit

          5  communities to design, implement or expand

          6  employment programs that are specifically tailored

          7  to youth; two, our link to public high schools so

          8  young people can obtain and hone educational and

          9  vocational skills; and three, support the efforts of

         10  community-based organizations designed to assist

         11  young people in the efforts to overcome the

         12  conditions that lead to poverty.

         13                 In addition, we ask the City to

         14  compile more information on the 16 to 21 year old

         15  age group so they can better be tracked.

         16                 By supporting these types of

         17  programs, the City will send a message that we care

         18  enough about the future of our children, of our

         19  young people by investing them today.

         20                 In closing, I would like to thank

         21  Chairman Fisher and the Youth Services Committee for

         22  this opportunity to speak on behalf of our homeless

         23  and at-risk youth in New York City.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 MS. LEE: Hi. My name is Jessica Lee,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            62

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  and I am the Executive Director of the Coalition for

          3  Asian-American Children and Families.

          4                 The Coalition is an advocacy

          5  organization seeking to improve the health and

          6  well-being of Asian children throughout New York

          7  City, who are particularly concerned about

          8  increasing their access to health and human services

          9  that are culturally and linguistically appropriate,

         10  particularly for the immigrant and low-income parts

         11  of our communities.

         12                 I want to just thank the Council and

         13  the Committee very much for the opportunity to speak

         14  today and of course the Citizens Committee as well,

         15  for helping assisting to organize and alerting me to

         16  it.

         17                 This past week the Coalition has

         18  released a report entitled Half Full of Half Empty?

         19  You should have it in front of you as well.

         20                 This report is the first major effort

         21  to report on the state of Asian-American children in

         22  New York City.

         23                 In our report we sought to dispel the

         24  notion that all Asian New Yorkers fit the stereotype

         25  of the model minority. We selected the title Half
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          2  Full or Half Empty? to reflect the Asian-American

          3  community's concerns about the disparity between

          4  those who have obtained high levels of education and

          5  financial success and the others in our community

          6  who in fact are far more invisible.

          7                 These are the families, immigrants,

          8  who have struggled poverty, limited English,

          9  cultural barriers, and the stresses of adapting to a

         10  new home.

         11                 For the children in these families,

         12  there are very limited youth services. For these

         13  children the glass is indeed half empty. I would

         14  like to take a minute to provide a brief snapshot of

         15  how the Asian-American community is doing. First I

         16  should note that it is extremely difficult to

         17  statistically describe Asian-Americans, because

         18  there is very, very limited data available on Asians

         19  in the City. They are often counted as other or

         20  unknown or in surveys or were omitted completely in

         21  any kind of research studies. However, I would

         22  suggest now that we can no longer afford to ignore

         23  Asian New York. In fact, the total population is

         24  estimated to be approximately 10 percent of the City

         25  population.
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          2                 As a percentage of the City it is the

          3  most rapidly growing segment of the population. In

          4  fact, the community is approximately doubling every

          5  decade since 1970, following the easing of

          6  immigration restriction.

          7                 As the population becomes

          8  increasingly a large part of New York's vibrant

          9  cultural mix, we have an obligation to include the

         10  needs of Asian-American youth as we seek to provide

         11  adequate services for all of the City's children.

         12                 Here are a few facts we know about

         13  Asian-American families.

         14                 Adults have the highest work force

         15  participation rate in the City, but they often have

         16  to work long hours in the lowest paying jobs,

         17  garment factories, newsstands, restaurant delivery,

         18  which limits the time that they have to spend with

         19  their children.

         20                 Nearly 48 percent of births to Asian

         21  women in the City are covered by Medicaid. Household

         22  median incomes are relatively high and just below

         23  whites, but individual median income are low, much

         24  more similar to African-Americans.

         25                 Asian-Americans live in the most
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          2  overcrowded housing in our City and they pay the

          3  highest rents. Although over one-third of Asian

          4  adults have a college degree or higher, a quarter of

          5  Asian adults have less than a high school degree.

          6                 Four-fifths of Asian heads of

          7  households are foreign born, 46 percent of Asian

          8  households in the City are linguistically isolated,

          9  by which I mean no one over 14 speaks English well.

         10                 More than one-third of Asian students

         11  in our public high schools do not graduate or do not

         12  graduate on time.

         13                 In daily lives, Asian-American

         14  children face very specific problems - they struggle

         15  to balance two very different cultures. They cope

         16  with pressure to succeed in school, they must guide

         17  themselves through the system because parents are

         18  working long hours and the parents' lack of

         19  understanding of US systems often present them from

         20  providing adequate guidance.

         21                 Young people often have the

         22  responsibility to act as the family's representative

         23  of the English speaking world.

         24                 There is emotional distance that

         25  grows between them and themselves and their less

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            66

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  aculturated parents. There is a lack of Asian role

          3  models in schools, popular cultures, City leadership

          4  roles and others, and of course young people who are

          5  Asian-American face racism, anti-immigrant attitude

          6  and must cope with the myth of the model student.

          7                 The community organizations we work

          8  with report that Asian-American youth are under a

          9  great deal of stress, which often results in

         10  depression or even suicide. Suicide is the major

         11  cause of death of Asian-Americans between 15 and 24,

         12  particularly among women.

         13                 Recent commonwealth studies found

         14  nationally that Asian girls report the highest rates

         15  of depressive symptoms, and Asian boys are more

         16  likely to report physical or sexual abuse than other

         17  race and ethnicities.

         18                 Locally, we found that Asian-American

         19  youth were arrested for major criminal activity, the

         20  number of Asian-American youth arrested for major

         21  criminal activities increased from 93 to 96 by 38

         22  percent. Disproportionately during this period the

         23  growth in the population was only 23 percent.

         24                 I present these findings today in

         25  part to convince the Committee that our young people
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          2  are in desperate need of youth development program.

          3  We cannot afford to reduce youth funding at a time

          4  when our community is expanding rapidly. We must

          5  assure that funding is available which includes

          6  programs that benefit immigrant youth from all race

          7  and ethnic groups in our City.

          8                 I encourage the City Council to

          9  ensure that funding is available to not only large,

         10  school-based programs, such as the beacons, but also

         11  small community-based organizations. Asian-run CBOs

         12  can provide Asian role models who understand what it

         13  is like to be torn between two cultures. They can

         14  negotiate with parents who do not send children to

         15  established agencies like a boys club or girl

         16  scouts, because they are unknown or they can't

         17  communicate with the youth workers there.

         18                 And as new Asian immigrant groups

         19  arrive, they need support to start their own youth

         20  serving agencies, which other communities have long

         21  benefitted from in their own neighborhoods.

         22                 By serving young people youth serving

         23  programs also reach the immigrant parents and hope

         24  to aculturate them. Programs can help parents learn

         25  about our city to understand why their children need
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          2  to participate in programs outside of the school.

          3                 Community-based programs also have

          4  the ability to support schools struggling with the

          5  influx of immigrants.

          6                 I encourage the Committee to consider

          7  supporting CBOs who wish to collaborate with school

          8  staff.

          9                 Finally, I wish to remind the

         10  Committee that I am not here today simply to insist

         11  that more money be funded only in the Asian-American

         12  community. I am here to remind you that all of the

         13  children of our city deserve the support and

         14  programs they need to grow up healthy and safe. I

         15  wish to encourage you to remember the challenges

         16  that Asian-American and all immigrant youth face as

         17  they negotiate their new home.

         18                 Thank you for your time and

         19  consideration.

         20                 MR. AMBROSE: Hi. I am Chris Ambrose,

         21  I am the Co-Executive Director of The Door, and we

         22  appreciate being invited here to participate today.

         23                 The Door is a not-for-profit youth

         24  center which provides free health care, education,

         25  legal services, counseling, arts and recreation, to
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          2  nearly 6,000 adolescents each year. There is no

          3  typical door member, the young people are as diverse

          4  as the City itself, they represent all five boroughs

          5  and ethnic groups, one-third of our members are

          6  immigrants.

          7                 Some young people come to us for

          8  enrichment to prepare for the SATs, learn the piano

          9  or play basketball, to find a job or receive a

         10  physical exam. Others are in crisis and need to help

         11  to stabilizing their lives. Whatever their reason

         12  for coming, all find support and caring at The Door.

         13                 The Door has long recognized the

         14  importance of collecting data on the young people

         15  with whom we work. We maintain a program planning

         16  and evaluation unit to track the progress of our

         17  youth to identify and respond to their ever-changing

         18  need.

         19                 The trends identified in the Citizens

         20  Committee report match our own findings. We

         21  appreciate the opportunity to discuss the needs of

         22  our young people and the chance to offer our

         23  recommendations for how we might work even better

         24  with them.

         25                 It is critical to work with youth in
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          2  the context of their families. Family structure and

          3  dynamics are key indicators of young people's

          4  well-being and include such considerations as

          5  whether the family is headed by one parent or two or

          6  neither and how many family members work.

          7                 More often than not, teenagers from

          8  New York City's disadvantaged neighborhoods live in

          9  single parent households. The parent may be so

         10  preoccupied with work and young siblings that older

         11  children receive little adult support, let alone the

         12  enrichment opportunities their more affluent

         13  counterparts take for granted.

         14                 Compounding the situation, many

         15  families do not have a working adult or are

         16  struggling with a history of physical, sexual or

         17  emotional abuse or dealing with substance abuse

         18  issues.

         19                 Perhaps most dispiriting, an

         20  increasing number of young people do not even live

         21  with a family member. As the Citizens Committee

         22  report indicates, more youth than ever are in the

         23  foster care system, which for teenagers typically

         24  means a group home.

         25                 At The Door we are also seeing many
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          2  young people who live essentially on their own.

          3  Three percent of the almost 6,000 youth we see each

          4  year identifies living on the streets or in a youth

          5  shelter. An additional 12 percent live with no

          6  family member and are outside the foster care system

          7  in situations that can best be described as

          8  temporary.

          9                 Such youth must not only struggle

         10  with adolescence but also support themselves and

         11  develop a network by which to be sustained.

         12                 Outside the family the picture for

         13  these young people does not improve. While the

         14  United States is enjoyed record prosperity in

         15  employment, our statistics, like those of the

         16  Citizens Committee for Children, indicate that

         17  poverty and unemployment remain the realities for

         18  many New York City youth.

         19                 While well intentioned concerns of

         20  failing schools and health care have prompted much

         21  needed reforms, very often these efforts have had

         22  the unintended effect of harming the very people

         23  they are designed to help.

         24                 For example, students are faced with

         25  a school system which is trying to improve by
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          2  raising standards, however this effort to raise the

          3  bar has not been accompanied by sufficient support

          4  to assist young people in overcoming years of

          5  educational deficiencies.

          6                 Consequently we are seeing more and

          7  younger students leave high school. Some will find

          8  their way back and receive a more limited education

          9  in a form of the GED program, others will end their

         10  education at 15 or 16.

         11                 Similarly, proper health care is

         12  obviously crucial to the successful development of

         13  all adolescents.

         14                 However, as with education, attempts

         15  to improve the delivery of health services has

         16  created problems. New Medicaid eligibility

         17  restrictions and complicated application procedures,

         18  as well as the public's lack of knowledge, have

         19  resulted in limiting this population's realistic

         20  access to health care.

         21                 This ultimately has a negative impact

         22  on young people who do not receive preventive care,

         23  proper health maintenance or even necessary medical

         24  treatment.

         25                 Noting these legislative changes many
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          2  young people perceive hostility directed at them and

          3  their communities.

          4                 At the very least they feel a sense

          5  of alienation from the larger society, some simply

          6  avoid the system which includes hospital, social

          7  service agencies and even schools completely.

          8                 Under the best of circumstances,

          9  adolescence is a stressful time. For thousands of

         10  inner-city teenagers facing these hardships, it is a

         11  struggle for survival. Add to this mix the normal

         12  adolescent feelings of confusion and insecurity and

         13  the universal peer pressure to fit in and one begins

         14  to understand adolescents need to prove themselves

         15  and their propensity for risk taking, such as sexual

         16  activity and self-destructive behavior such as

         17  drinking, using drugs and dropping out of school.

         18                 These young people often lack the

         19  tools in societal or familial supports to solve

         20  problems and cannot find a meaningful route to

         21  adulthood. This can mean a lifetime of dependency

         22  with all of its attendant problems. Some will become

         23  alcoholics and drug-abusers, an alarming number will

         24  commit suicide, many will turn to crime. Others will

         25  engage in self-destructive behavior that will
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          2  directly affect their ability to achieve. Few will

          3  reach their potential. The results, the loss of

          4  future leaders, a viable work force and empowered

          5  citizens is more of a threat to New York's quality

          6  of life than this aging infrastructure.

          7                 Guided by data such as in the

          8  Citizens Committee report, and what we know about

          9  adolescent development and the conditions that

         10  nourish its healthy passage, certain principles

         11  should be applied to the delivery of youth services.

         12  Perhaps the primary tenant is that adolescents, like

         13  children and adults, have interrelated multiple

         14  needs. It is only by addressing each of these needs,

         15  physical, intellectual, social and emotional, the

         16  young people can reach their full potential. The

         17  most effective youth programs recognize this and

         18  provide a comprehensive array of activities.

         19                 Within this model, services must be

         20  free of charge and accessible without boundaries and

         21  bureaucracies, such as rigid eligibility

         22  requirements.

         23                 Programs must distinguish the needs

         24  of teenagers from those of children and adults.

         25  Adolescents, especially those who may feel alienated
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          2  from traditional institutions, must be guaranteed

          3  confidentiality and allowed to participate without

          4  parental consent.

          5                 Finally, services should be provided

          6  in an atmosphere that is youth centered and

          7  supportive, programs designed to promote young

          8  people's strength, rather than focus on their

          9  deficits.

         10                 While the problems faced by young

         11  people are best dealt with through the provision of

         12  a variety of programs, the government department

         13  responsible for funding youth service agencies have

         14  traditionally lacked any comprehensive coordinated

         15  plan for implementation.

         16                 In fact, today there are

         17  approximately 19 different city and 18 different

         18  state departments, each with its own agenda, funding

         19  stream and contracting and reporting procedures,

         20  which work with youth agencies.

         21                 Government funding for youth services

         22  tends to be directed to areas viewed by the public,

         23  in many cases via the media, as the latest crisis

         24  affecting youth, such as teen pregnancy, drug abuse

         25  or gangs.
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          2                 Programs are not typically funded to

          3  address the underlying causes of young people's

          4  problems but rather respond instantly to these

          5  perceived crises, which in reality are only the

          6  expression of much deeper underlying problems.

          7                 Funders in the private sector often

          8  follow suit and earmark their resources for

          9  specialized programs and services.

         10                 This fragmented band-aid approach

         11  undermines the effectiveness of comprehensive youth

         12  development services, which focus on building core

         13  competencies which enable young people to set goals

         14  and better manage their own lives.

         15                 What crisis issues must be addressed,

         16  little attention and resources are directed to the

         17  youth development programs that can more broadly and

         18  effectively serve young people.

         19                 Funding is rarely available to

         20  coordinate the diversity of the programs it takes to

         21  meet the needs of multi-problem youth, ironically

         22  absent such preventive services, the number of youth

         23  reaching crisis only continues to climb.

         24                 What is missing is a coherent policy

         25  and core support for the delivery of comprehensive
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          2  services, which address the development needs of

          3  youth rather than single problems or crises.

          4                 Providing such integrated services is

          5  especially difficult when an agency must continually

          6  struggle to adapt the disparate rules and

          7  regulations of its many separately funded City

          8  contracts.

          9                 The City Council will help The Door

         10  and other comprehensive youth services work better

         11  with young people if City departments adopt a more

         12  streamlined approach to contracting.

         13                 In putting forth the following

         14  recommendations, The Door is prepared to work with

         15  the City government in designing and implementing

         16  concepts for comprehensive services funding.

         17                 The first recommendation:

         18                 Public attention and funding are

         19  focused almost entirely on crisis intervention for

         20  the high cost of services guarantees that

         21  intervention will come too little too late.

         22                 Priority must be given to long-term

         23  planning and the expansion of planning and early

         24  care intervention services, based on the principles

         25  of youth development.
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          2                 As stated, an agency like The Door

          3  receives funding from as many as 18 different City

          4  departments, each with its own application and

          5  reporting requirements.

          6                 We recommend that the City institute

          7  a master contract for multi-service agencies, so

          8  rather than having a different contract with each

          9  City Department funding it, the youth center would

         10  have a single contract managed by a lead

         11  City Department which would be responsible for

         12  establishing all contracting and accountability

         13  protocols. This streamlining would reduce

         14  duplicative paperwork for both the City agencies and

         15  the non-for-profits, thus decreasing everyone's

         16  costs and increasing everyone's efficiency.

         17                 In addition, the master contract

         18  could be used as a vehicle to attract a more stabile

         19  base of private philanthropic support.

         20                 Third, it is a given that non-profit

         21  agencies will always lag behind public and corporate

         22  sector jobs in terms of compensation; however,

         23  social service providers are increasingly faced with

         24  high turnover rates and a severe shortage of highly

         25  trained staff because they are unable to provide for
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          2  even a modest cost of living adjustment.

          3                 The City should support programs

          4  through funding that contemplates a five percent

          5  cost of living increase for all renewal contracts to

          6  stabilize and strengthen programs.

          7                 Fourth, the City should direct the

          8  current surplus of the -- the City Council should

          9  help the Mayor to direct the current surplus the

         10  City's booming economy has generated to improve and

         11  protect the health and well-being of our youth.

         12                 Five, policy-makers and service

         13  providers must work together to establish a clearly

         14  defined youth development policy and strategy for

         15  its implementation.

         16                 The City and State must work together

         17  to establish long range federal agenda for the

         18  development and maintenance of services to

         19  adolescents. An aggressive lobbying strategy that

         20  includes service providers as well as consumers,

         21  young people, can be put into place by the City and

         22  State officials.

         23                 Sixth, and last, concerned about our

         24  competitiveness in the global market and performance

         25  of our future workforce, the private sector has
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          2  increasingly applied its know-how and resources to

          3  problems that were once the domain of government.

          4  The corporate and foundation presence in New York

          5  City makes this an excellent testing ground for

          6  innovative public/private partnerships, the City

          7  should develop a plan for building and supporting

          8  such partnerships which can help address important

          9  needs like housing, educational reforms and improved

         10  health care delivery.

         11                 As the Citizens Committee for

         12  Children report makes manifest, many New York City

         13  youth face considerable adversity. Historically

         14  there has not been a coordinated City plan for the

         15  development and delivery of youth services. The

         16  coordination of governmental agencies is a

         17  significant challenge requiring close cooperation

         18  between the public and not-for-profit sectors. We

         19  propose that the service and funding integration can

         20  be accomplished with the attendant benefits and

         21  greater efficiencies in monitoring and supervision.

         22  This change can be accomplished without sacrificing

         23  the need for accountability, both programmatic and

         24  financial and will ultimately result in improved

         25  service delivery to youth.
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          2                 Thanks.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Thank you very

          4  much. I want to thank all of you for your testimony,

          5  and also for the effort that was put into developing

          6  some of the statistics material. I have to tell you

          7  that it is amazing to me that a lot of the

          8  information that you have presented, these kinds of

          9  maps and so forth and the information contained in

         10  the report, simply isn't available from any other

         11  source. It is certainly not developed in any type of

         12  comprehensive way by the City agencies who are

         13  responsible for the well-being of New York's

         14  children, so thank you very much.

         15                 Council Member Stabile.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Ms. Lee, I

         17  was extremely impressed with your testimony.

         18                 When you sit up here, a lot of times

         19  you hear a lot of testimony, some of it becomes so

         20  repetitious, to be very honest with you, that you

         21  sit here and you hear the same thing and you are

         22  hearing a lot of suggestions.

         23                 Your testimony hit a soft spot with

         24  me, personally, and I am not Asian, okay? But some

         25  of the testimony you came forth with was very

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            82

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  enlightening.

          3                 Now, I am an advocate for the youth

          4  of this City, and for the programs that you are

          5  talking about, and I am also a Republican

          6  Conservative, but I believe the way to do it is to

          7  get programs off. One of the biggest problems that

          8  is out there, and all of you people can help with

          9  this problem, is when a group comes out and says

         10  they are not-for-profit, and when you start looking

         11  at their financial disclosures, when the heads of

         12  their organizations are making more money, and I

         13  wish the young children would have understood,

         14  because a lot of it never trickles down to the

         15  people it is supposed to serve.

         16                 And that is one of the serious

         17  problems with youth programs throughout this

         18  country, is they all have that beautiful title

         19  not-for-profit. Yet, when you start looking at their

         20  financial disclosures, you find, and this is no

         21  reflection on anyone here today, but you find in

         22  their financial disclosures, you find some big heavy

         23  figures up at the top. And you are right, the

         24  gentleman from The Door, there really should be some

         25  way to keep these workers who are really dedicated
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          2  to helping the children. There really should be. But

          3  unfortunately a lot of the money gets eaten up from

          4  the top down.

          5                 So, the money never gets to the real

          6  worker who is out there, who puts in 18 hours a day,

          7  who goes to the hospitals and goes to the schools

          8  and goes to the rehab centers and works with the

          9  unwed mothers, that is one of the serious problems

         10  that is out there.

         11                 And I am talking in a whole broad

         12  sense through all our communities, I don't think

         13  there is a City Councilman in this City, or any

         14  logically-thinking City Councilman, that doesn't

         15  want to see the youth programs restored to full and

         16  to work with these programs and make them better,

         17  and I mean that very sincerely. But what turns a lot

         18  of elected officials off is when you start looking

         19  at where the money is being spent and how it is

         20  being spent, and that is what turns a lot of elected

         21  officials off. I am being honest with you.

         22                 I have to leave because I have a

         23  meeting with the Borough President of Queens in

         24  about 40 minutes, but I do sympathize and you do

         25  have my support, all of the programs out there.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON: Thank

          4  you very much, Council Member Stabile.

          5                 Council Member Lopez, do you have a

          6  question or a comment?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes.

          8                 In regard to the map that you

          9  presented, the one that is behind you, it looks like

         10  New York City has Chicken Pox, with this map. And it

         11  is a good Chicken Pox case, I understand. If the

         12  Mayor's budget will go in effect tomorrow, what will

         13  happen with this case of Chicken Pox?

         14                 MS. YANCHE: There are about 1,300

         15  plus Chicken Pox on the map, and the patient would

         16  be dramatically cured if the cuts were --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Implemented.

         18                 MS. YANCHE: Meaning that, about 1,200

         19  of the programs would be eliminated immediately.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then from all

         21  the stats that I see here, 1,200 dots will

         22  disappear?

         23                 MS. YANCHE: That's right.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: How many dots

         25  are in here?
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          2                 MS. YANCHE: The actual number of dots

          3  that are there is about 1,300. The problem is if you

          4  actually counted them you wouldn't come up to that

          5  amount because sometimes, for example, there are two

          6  different programs funded by YDDP, so both would be

          7  a red star located in the same site. So they would

          8  end up on top of each other.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I see.

         10                 MS. YANCHE: So it would look like one

         11  star, whereas in fact there are two there. So that

         12  is the problem with doing this kind of thing. In

         13  terms of shear numbers you don't always see some of

         14  them because they are on top of each other.

         15                 You can see that when you see that

         16  there are different kinds of funding.

         17                 For example, if you look at the

         18  beacons, even though the beacon funding stream is

         19  not supposed to be cut by the Executive Budget, so

         20  many of them, as you can see on the map, have

         21  funding from other sources, so you will see a black

         22  square with a red circle inside of it and a red star

         23  inside of that, maybe even a green diamond on top of

         24  that. So, you see how many programs operate as a

         25  house of cards, they take some funding from this
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          2  source and that source and may even have three

          3  different programs funded by the same funding source

          4  all together in the same site.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then if these

          6  budget cuts of the Mayor were being implemented,

          7  part of what you are telling me is that, the shining

          8  reflection that the beacon schools programs show

          9  will decrease tremendously because these are the

         10  programs that are sustaining the beacon schools also

         11  in order to provide the kind of services that they

         12  have been providing.

         13                 MS. YANCHE: Right. Many of the

         14  beacons, and I think without exception all of the

         15  pre-existing ones, meaning those that existed before

         16  the recent expansion received funding from multiple

         17  other sources, both private and public, and what you

         18  see here are those public dollars that would be

         19  removed, so the beacons would not go unaffected.

         20                 But the other important thing to note

         21  on that is the programs that aren't a beacon would

         22  also lose more funding than what you see here,

         23  because the way that youth programs work is they

         24  take their grant from YDDP, they take their grant

         25  from their Council member or Borough President and
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          2  they use that to go to a private foundation and

          3  bring in other dollars.

          4                 So what is represented here does not

          5  even give the full sense of how many resources would

          6  be removed from our community.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And the

          8  partnership between government and private sector,

          9  which the Mayor praised so much, will be also

         10  affected by this budget cut?

         11                 MS. YANCHE: Absolutely. Absolutely.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: If I ask you to

         13  tell me in one word how you will describe the budget

         14  that the Mayor just had released for the youth

         15  population in this City, how would you characterize

         16  it?

         17                 MS. YANCHE: I am intending to try for

         18  two words, I will go with horrific. I personally am

         19  heartbroken, at looking at it I was really hoping to

         20  see a reversal from the financial plan proposal for

         21  youth services, but unfortunately all of those cuts

         22  are included in this budget.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: My last

         24  question to the young man from Covenant House: Do

         25  you have statistical information that you collect in
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          2  your organization about homelessness, between youth

          3  in our City?

          4                 Because the last time that the

          5  Commissioner from -- what was the Department that I

          6  keep asking about? I keep asking about where the

          7  City collects the data about homelessness in the

          8  youth population and they said they don't collect

          9  that nowhere. Do you collect data in that regard?

         10                 MS. MENDEZ: Yes. We collect data on

         11  the kids who come to our programs. I can furnish

         12  that to your office. In terms of age, race, foster

         13  care, criminal justice involvement, et cetera.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Do you provide

         15  that information to the government? Because you have

         16  received funding from the government, do you provide

         17  that information back to them?

         18                 MS. MENDEZ: Well, actually all of our

         19  community-based centers, all of our school-based

         20  programs are privately funded. Our budget is 21

         21  million, we get about 154,000 from the City. But we

         22  have met with the Commissioner, former Commissioner

         23  of DYCD and provided some of the information, and we

         24  provide information to the Chair of the Youth

         25  Services Committee and other City Council members
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          2  who request it from us, but we can make it available

          3  to you.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay, thank

          5  you.

          6                 MR. MENDEZ: You are welcome.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON: Thank

          8  you very much.

          9                 I just want to say just as a side

         10  comment, Council Member Lopez. I hear your

         11  frustration, and in an attempt to get some kind of

         12  response to the horrific budget that has been

         13  proposed by the Mayor today, and also to say that

         14  there is nobody listening, and that is the sad part

         15  about it, that there is nobody listening, except for

         16  the members of the New York City Council. So we are

         17  going to continue to do that and try to do the best

         18  that we can to make it less horrific.

         19                 Thank you very much.

         20                 Has everyone testified there? Because

         21  I am sorry, I was out of the room. Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 Our next witness is the Honorable

         24  Michael Gage, who is the Administrative Judge of the

         25  Family Court.
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          2                 You may please take your seat.

          3                 I am Council Member Annette Robinson,

          4  Chair of the Subcommittee on Juvenile Justice. You

          5  may sit down.

          6                 I would also like to acknowledge the

          7  presence of Council Member Una Clarke of the 40th

          8  Council District in Brooklyn.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you,

         10  Ma'am.

         11                 JUDGE GAGE: Good afternoon. I am very

         12  pleased to be here to give you one Judge's insight

         13  into programs that are needed for youth that are

         14  caught up in our Family Court and those that

         15  hopefully will not get caught up into Family Court.

         16                 Just to give you a moment's overview,

         17  I do supervise all of the Family Courts in New York

         18  City and there are 42 Family Court judges sitting

         19  now in the five counties, and we have now

         20  specialized within those courts so that in each

         21  county there are two or three family court judges

         22  who do nothing but delinquency or the more serious

         23  designated felony cases.

         24                 The numbers are as you see in the

         25  report from the Citizens Committee for Children, and
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          2  I want to commend that organization for this

          3  fabulous report which is chock full of information,

          4  I learned a lot, but our numbers in total last year

          5  were approximately 6,000 new delinquency and

          6  designated felony cases and I can break that down

          7  approximately for you by each county, about 1,350 in

          8  the Bronx, 1,400 in Kings County, 1,250 in New York

          9  County, 1,000 in Queens and 300 in Staten Island,

         10  those are the delinquency cases, the designated

         11  felony cases which are serious A and B felonies

         12  basically are much fewer, less than 250 in most

         13  counties.

         14                 So, these cases represent a very

         15  small fraction of the work of family court but a

         16  very critical part of the work. It is only about six

         17  or seven percent of our cases.

         18                 I personally, and I speak for myself

         19  today, favor the retention and even expansion of the

         20  various alternative or diversion programs, ATC which

         21  is Alternative to Court, ATD, which is Alternative

         22  to Detention and something I will call ATP,

         23  Alternative to Placement.

         24                 The chart on page 125 of the report

         25  shows you, discusses case dispositions and juvenile
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          2  delinquency cases, this is from 69, but it is

          3  approximately the same. And of those 6,000 cases,

          4  only a little over 2,000 result in conviction and of

          5  those, 40 percent are placed on probation and 47

          6  percent go into placement.

          7                 I think the probation numbers could

          8  be higher, but even more importantly, because our

          9  courts, as I am sure you know are overcrowded and

         10  resources are scarce, I think one of the best

         11  programs that has been instituted in recent years

         12  through the Department of Probation, has been what

         13  is called ATC, Alternative to Court, and that is a

         14  program for first time offenders with low level,

         15  non-violent charges, who would ordinarily have cases

         16  filed against them in Family Court. They come in

         17  after they receive an appearance ticket from the

         18  Police Department and they are involved in a

         19  diversion program. They are counseled, they get

         20  referrals for drug treatment, if they need it, they

         21  are supervised for a period of months and if they

         22  stay out of trouble then no case is filed.

         23                 I know the City Council has been

         24  instrumental in the past in providing funds for this

         25  program, and we are certainly cautiously hopeful
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          2  that that will continue, I know the program is only

          3  funded through the end of June.

          4                 A new program that probation is just

          5  beginning in New York and Kings County is something

          6  called JSAVD, which stands for Juvenile Substance

          7  Abuse and Violence Deterrence Program, and it will

          8  address basically the same population, some youth

          9  who are not delinquent or not charged with

         10  delinquency, there is a PINS population, Persons In

         11  Need of Supervision, possibly predelinquent, but

         12  also the same non-violent low level delinquency

         13  population, and they will specifically be kids who

         14  probably need some substance abuse programs, and

         15  they will get the same kind of counseling and

         16  assistance and family, working with family that the

         17  ATC kids get.

         18                 These programs, if they are

         19  successful in diverting youth away from Family

         20  Court, leaves time for the more serious cases to be

         21  handled by attorneys and judges in Family Court, and

         22  I don't know if you know the process or have

         23  suggested that perhaps I could give an overview of

         24  how cases come into court --

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON: That
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          2  would be very helpful to us, yes.

          3                 JUDGE GAGE: Well, the Office of the

          4  City Corporation Counsel prosecutes all of the cases

          5  in Family Court except the most serious ones which

          6  the DA's handle. And kids either come in through

          7  detention if they have been arrested, or because

          8  they have been given an appearance ticket or are

          9  summoned to come in voluntarily, if they have been

         10  arrested, the Office of Corporation Counsel must

         11  file either a petition, that is the charge against

         12  them, or a pre-petition on the very next court day.

         13  In either case, whether a petition has been filed or

         14  a pre-petition, a judge will decide whether it is

         15  safe and appropriate to release that child to the

         16  parent or detain them with the Department of

         17  Juvenile Justice. And the standard is whether there

         18  is a substantial probability that the child wouldn't

         19  come back if released and whether there is a serious

         20  risk but another crime would be committed.

         21                 If we have alternatives to detention

         22  to send them to, such as the customary ATD program

         23  which is a program where kids are supervised from

         24  eight to four p.m., or the new extended alternative

         25  to detention program, a judge is much more likely to
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          2  allow the parole of that youngster, and that means

          3  that precious bed space at the Department of

          4  Juvenile Justice will not be taken up by that child.

          5                 In addition, we have very strict time

          6  frames to complete delinquency cases, most of them

          7  have to be heard if the child is in detention within

          8  two weeks, and they have to be concluded 30 days

          9  after fact finding.

         10                 So, I think one thing that the report

         11  of the Citizens Committee shows is that in terms of

         12  the population of the Department of Juvenile

         13  Justice, although there are many more delinquents

         14  that come through Family Court that are housed

         15  there, they stay much shorter periods of time than

         16  the juvenile offenders who go through the Criminal

         17  Court system and whose cases take much longer.

         18                 And I mentioned this because anything

         19  that can speed up the court process is beneficial to

         20  everyone, I think. Takes much less attorney time,

         21  judge time and just results in a faster

         22  adjudication. And one thing, in fact the primary

         23  thing that is slowing down disposition, that is the

         24  determination of sentence of delinquents in Family

         25  Courts, is the insufficient resources that the
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          2  Court, Mental Health Clinics have to do evaluations.

          3                 Now, this is the City-funded

          4  operation through Health and Hospitals Corporation,

          5  and for as long as I have been an Administrative

          6  Judge, which is more than three and a half years, we

          7  have been trying to get an increase in the

          8  allocation of their staff, and I don't want to get

          9  diverted into the foster care population because

         10  that is a whole other hearing, but I would say that

         11  now that the City and State have to comply with this

         12  new federal legislation ASF, Adoption of Safe

         13  Families, if we are not able to get more mental

         14  health resources to do these evaluations, the City

         15  and State are going to lose major federal dollars

         16  because they will not be able to comply with the

         17  very strict time frame that this federal legislation

         18  requires, and it has some impact on juveniles who

         19  are placed in non-secure detention.

         20                 But to returning to the other

         21  programs, if a youngster has been in ATD or this

         22  extended Alternative to Detention and has done

         23  fairly well, then a judge has some way of knowing

         24  that it may be a good risk and a good decision to

         25  place this child on probation. The standard for that
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          2  decision is whether probation is the least

          3  restrictive alternative consistent with the

          4  protection of the community, and the best interest

          5  of the youngster.

          6                 So, it is kind of a sequence of

          7  decisions, if there are these alternative programs,

          8  alternative to detention and the child does well,

          9  then he or she is not likely to end up in placement.

         10  And I think we might all agree that placement of a

         11  youngster should be a last resort restricted to

         12  those who are dangerous to the community and need

         13  incarceration away from home.

         14                 One of the figures in this report

         15  shows that the time youngsters spend in -- it used

         16  to be Division for Youth Facilities, now it is

         17  called Office of Children and Families Facilities,

         18  is diminishing. And I think many experts feel that

         19  just to remove a youngster from a community for six

         20  or eight months and then do very little with after

         21  care doesn't improve the situation a whole lot. So,

         22  if kids can be worked with in the community with

         23  good programs that is preferrable, and so I turn to

         24  my last point that I wanted to make:

         25                 The Office of Court Administration
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          2  has offered as bill which would clarify judicial

          3  authority to order intensive probation supervision

          4  in the community and also clarify our ability to set

          5  minimum confinement periods when kids are placed

          6  with the Division for Youth.

          7                 We know they have a bed shortage

          8  also, but as I say it doesn't improve or it doesn't

          9  rehabilitate children just to place them and have

         10  them forced out of a placement because they need

         11  beds for new delinquents, so we would like to have

         12  the ability to place for a minimum of a year, as

         13  opposed to just two eighteen months, and we hope

         14  that proposal gets some support in the State

         15  Legislature.

         16                 So, the programs I have mentioned,

         17  ATC and the JSAVD, are ones which I hope this

         18  Council and this Committee will look favorably upon

         19  because I do think that most judges feel they more

         20  than pay for themselves in dollars, and after having

         21  been in this business for almost 30 years, I do

         22  think that working with kids in the community is not

         23  only fiscally sound, but is in the best interest of

         24  the whole community, and I would be happy to

         25  entertain any questions.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Thank you, Judge.

          3  Thank you for coming down and sharing your insights

          4  with us today.

          5                 I wanted to ask you, while I know it

          6  is hard to generalize about a population, and

          7  particularly difficult to look inside the hearts and

          8  minds of the young people that you deal with on a

          9  daily basis, is there one common denominator or one

         10  unmet that you see more often than others where

         11  perhaps the City should be focusing its resources in

         12  order to prevent the kids from getting into the

         13  system in the first place?

         14                 JUDGE GAGE: Well, that is a hard

         15  question.

         16                 I mean, I was very impressed with the

         17  testimony here. I think the programs, whether they

         18  be after school programs or community-based

         19  facilities, somewhere where a kid can go after

         20  school and use time usefully as opposed to just

         21  hanging out on the streets, is a major benefit.

         22                 I would say that those who are

         23  already caught up in either deviant behavior or some

         24  kind of psychological problem, that the great

         25  deficit is in mental health services, whether they
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          2  be foster kids or delinquent kids, and there

          3  certainly is an overlap. But I think one innovative

          4  program recently, and it is not just in New York

          5  City, it is all over, is the youth or team court,

          6  and I think some of them are run out of beacon

          7  schools. I know there is one in Red Hook, and that

          8  will be part of the courts, the Red Hook Community

          9  Justice Center when it opens officially, but when

         10  peers in the schools who are trained take on the

         11  roles of judge and jury and they hear cases of minor

         12  delinquencies or cutting school, that kind of thing,

         13  and they make decisions and they can impose orders

         14  of community service.

         15                 I think doing useful work, improving

         16  the community is something that makes kids feel they

         17  have a stake in the community, and has been very

         18  beneficial, so I didn't restrict myself to one

         19  answer, but all of those things are important.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Thank you.

         21                 And perhaps a good seguay to the

         22  Chair of our Mental Health Subcommittee, Council

         23  Member Clarke.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you very

         25  much, and welcome. You didn't look over 30 years old
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          2  so when you said you were in the business for 30

          3  years, I wondered when you got on the bench.

          4                 JUDGE GAGE: Lawyer and judge, not all

          5  as a judge.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Okay.

          7                 I am pleased that you have come. I am

          8  chair of the Subcommittee on Mental Health and would

          9  like to get from you, through the many judges, a

         10  proposal for what you think is adequate staffing

         11  that you would need, the numbers that you think you

         12  need, not that I will be able to give you

         13  everything, but certainly including any kind of

         14  referral or diversion that you think that this will

         15  do to prevent further delinquency, and I would be

         16  very happy to have that now as we go through the

         17  budget process and look at Mental Health dollars. I

         18  have done a lot I think with those folks who are

         19  already on Rikers Island looking at forensic mental

         20  health issues and following up on some of those

         21  issues because just about everybody who were

         22  previously in a psychiatric hospital and who did not

         23  have a home to come to when we downsized now found

         24  themselves on Rikers Island, and so I am seeing that

         25  as the new psychiatric hospital is in the jails, and
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          2  I am trying to see how I can best address some of

          3  those issues and certainly the Family Court should

          4  be one of them, especially for our young people, so

          5  I would like very much to have a proposal from you

          6  that reflects the thinking of all of the judges that

          7  we can use in a very effective way and I really want

          8  to thank you for coming because we don't usually get

          9  a judge so concerned to come to testify and to give

         10  us an insight of what is happening in the courts,

         11  especially to our young people.

         12                 So, I thank you very much for coming.

         13                 JUDGE GAGE: You are very welcome. I

         14  thank you, and I will have that to you in just a few

         15  days.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Council Member

         17  Robinson, who chairs our Juvenile Justice

         18  Subcommittee.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Thank you

         20  very much, Chairman Fisher.

         21                 And certainly, Judge Gage, I would

         22  like to thank you for your being here with us today,

         23  and to give us a greater insight into the Family

         24  Court system.

         25                 Often times when I am traveling to
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          2  City Hall I see families standing out in front of

          3  the family courts and it causes me deep concern in

          4  that regard, not only seeing them standing there,

          5  that we have such massive problems that confront the

          6  families within New York City.

          7                 Could you tell me this, Judge: In

          8  regards to the increase in the amount of young

          9  people in secure and non-secure facilities, what do

         10  you think accounts for this increase?

         11                 JUDGE GAGE: I think in part it is the

         12  tenor of law enforcement, less tolerance for

         13  delinquency, good advocacy on the part of the City

         14  arguing for remand, and just less of a tolerance for

         15  risk and for danger. The numbers have gone up

         16  gradually, and I think the Department of Juvenile

         17  Justice has done their best to try and accommodate

         18  them, although having been in this business so long

         19  I remember the many, many years that the two new

         20  facilities were in the planning stages and of course

         21  we thought that they would be adequate to house the

         22  remanded youngsters and now it turns out that they

         23  are not, it is certainly not that more crimes are

         24  being committed. There may be more arrests being

         25  made for that very reason, and as I say, nobody
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          2  wants to be responsible for paroling a youngster who

          3  then goes out and commits another crime, so there

          4  are a number of youngsters who are remanded.

          5                 Now, part of that may be that many of

          6  these remanded youngsters are also in the foster

          7  care system and they really have no one, no parents

          8  who will come in for them and state that they will

          9  be responsible for them, as I say there is some

         10  overlap. So, the systems do intersect, and if we can

         11  assist one we can assist the other.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: What is your

         13  opinion of the reopening of Spofford? Several weeks

         14  ago the Commissioner came before us and said that

         15  they were planning to reopen Spofford, what are your

         16  thoughts about that?

         17                 JUDGE GAGE: Well, I don't think

         18  anyone is happy about it. As I say, it's an old

         19  inefficient facility, it certainly complicates their

         20  problems many fold, transportation, supply,

         21  programmatic, and I do believe that if sufficient

         22  alternative to detention programs were utilized,

         23  then even if it were reopened it wouldn't have to

         24  stay opened for very long. It is a negative trend

         25  that is very discouraging and I would like to see it
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          2  turned around.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: You know, it

          4  is very discouraging to me as well and of course my

          5  colleagues, but I am just wondering, do you have any

          6  idea why there is so much reluctance to use

          7  alternative to incarceration, alternative to

          8  detention programs, do you have any idea why there

          9  is so much reluctance to use those programs?

         10                 JUDGE GAGE: Well, other than what I

         11  have tried to allude to, that there is less of a

         12  tolerance for criminal behavior. I mean, no one

         13  wants to either be the victim or to know that crime

         14  is taking place, but I think there are better ways

         15  of dealing with it.

         16                 I mean, occasionally a brief period

         17  of detention can kind of get a kid's attention, if

         18  he or she hasn't been to detention, but staying for

         19  long periods of time in detention, as well as they

         20  try to staff them and have different programs, it is

         21  really time waiting for a case to be processed, that

         22  is not useful I don't think.

         23                 I think that to the extent that less

         24  serious offenders are taking up the time, both court

         25  processing time and detention time that should be
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          2  addressed to the more serious offenders, all the

          3  cases are taking longer.

          4                 Most of the -- or the longest stays

          5  in detention come from the youthful offender

          6  population, and those cases take a very long time to

          7  try in Criminal Court, but we have most of the

          8  defendants.

          9                 So, it is a combination of factors,

         10  and every time -- it is a very simple matter of

         11  arithmetic in my view, if the mental health service

         12  cannot complete an evaluation in the first ten-day

         13  period, which they are given, there is the

         14  possibility of a further ten-day adjournment for a

         15  kid in detention. But if they were able to complete

         16  it in the first ten days, then that second period of

         17  time would be freed up for another youth.

         18                 So, every time there has to be an

         19  adjournment because a report is not done, that means

         20  that another bed is taken up. If we could all move

         21  the system more efficiently, you might not need

         22  those extra beds.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Thank you

         24  very much, again, Judge Gage, and I look forward to

         25  working with you outside of this chamber, to see how
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          2  we might be able to bring forth some of the

          3  programs, talk about the teen court, drug courts

          4  that they have as well for our young people so that

          5  we can kind of move them along.

          6                 Thank you very much.

          7                 JUDGE GAGE: My pleasure.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Council Member

          9  Lopez.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Your Honor,

         11  following up on the conversation that you were

         12  having here with Councilwoman Robinson, I want to

         13  have clear what you were saying in the regard of the

         14  question of no tolerance for crime.

         15                 I don't have no tolerance for crime

         16  whatsoever, and I want every criminal who commits a

         17  crime to pay for what they do. I want to understand

         18  what are you saying, because I don't want to be

         19  confused in regard to this. Although, I don't have

         20  no tolerance (sic) for criminals, I do have a brain

         21  and I understand that the way to deal with crime not

         22  necessarily is with a strong hand putting people

         23  into that penalty, there are other alternatives to

         24  that that would produce a better result I think. And

         25  I want to know if you can clarify further what you
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          2  were saying, for my own benefit?

          3                 JUDGE GAGE: Well, I think we all

          4  might agree that in many communities in the City and

          5  elsewhere there are not enough after school programs

          6  for youth. If they are not in an after school

          7  program there is nothing else to do, they may well

          8  get in trouble, whether it be smoking marijuana or

          9  damaging cars or trespassing or even jumping

         10  turnstyles, which is not something that Family Court

         11  has jurisdiction over, but it can lead to a police

         12  detention and that can lead to other things.

         13                 So, if there were those programs and

         14  kids didn't get in minor trouble, they wouldn't be

         15  starting down a possible road to more serious

         16  trouble.

         17                 I think there was a very well

         18  regarded report some months ago which kind of

         19  surprised me which showed that a very high

         20  percentage of delinquent acts are committed between

         21  the hours of 3:00 and 8:00 p.m., I assumed many of

         22  them took place at night but those are the hours

         23  that kids should be doing something useful, and if

         24  these programs were provided that could well reduce

         25  the kind of crime that we see in our courts every
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          2  day.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Had you seen,

          4  or had you been witness, or have you experienced a

          5  proof of stopping crime permanently, or have you

          6  seen the opposite, that when we approach crime from

          7  amalgamation of solutions and we put programs in

          8  place that the permanent solution of this would be

          9  more likely than just putting people in jail for as

         10  long as necessary?

         11                 JUDGE GAGE: I believe in that latter

         12  road with all of my heart.

         13                 I have never seen that it has

         14  improved certainly youth, and we are talking about

         15  youth here, our kids only go up to 15, to be sent

         16  far away from their communities, upstate, for some

         17  months, and then returned with, until, certainly

         18  until very recently, very inadequate after care

         19  services, just getting kids back in school after

         20  they have been placed away from home is a monumental

         21  task.

         22                 Now, I don't want to be

         23  misunderstood, there are some kids who are just

         24  dangerous and need to be removed for a period of

         25  time to protect everyone but that is a very small
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          2  minority in my view and I think for the other kids

          3  they have to learn to function with their families,

          4  to function in school, to function in the community,

          5  so they, whether they can find gainful employment,

          6  work, go on to college, and having a delinquent

          7  record or a criminal record is not going to help

          8  that progress one bit, it is certainly going to

          9  hinder it, as you well know.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

         11                 JUDGE GAGE: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Thank you very

         13  much, Judge, for your testimony and your insights.

         14                 JUDGE GAGE: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: I want to just

         16  make a couple of announcements.

         17                 First of all, the next Youth Speakout

         18  hearing of the Youth Services Committee Speakout,

         19  will be a hearing at New Dorp High School in Staten

         20  Island on April 27th, from 4:00 p.m. to 6:00 p.m.

         21                 Everyone is invited to participate,

         22  particularly the young people of Staten island and

         23  New York City.

         24                 Secondly, I am advised by the

         25  Speaker's Office that the hearing we had scheduled
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          2  for May the 7th is being deferred because of the

          3  release of the Mayor's final budget proposal, budget

          4  hearings will be ongoing that week, so please check

          5  with the Speaker's Office for an update on the

          6  scheduling of hearings for the first week in May,

          7  but our hearing is temporarily deferred, and we will

          8  see when we are going to be scheduled to do our

          9  budget hearings.

         10                 On May 11th youth organizations

         11  around New York City will be calling attention to

         12  the impact that the Mayor's proposed budget cuts

         13  will have and I would encourage everyone to be aware

         14  of that, participate if possible, because it will

         15  send a clear message throughout New York City what

         16  will happen if the Mayor's $20 million budget cut is

         17  enacted.

         18                 At a time when the entire country's

         19  attention is focused on the problem of youth

         20  alienation because of the tragic events in Colorado,

         21  cutting delinquency prevention programs here in New

         22  York City is simply unacceptable to this Council and

         23  we will do whatever we have to do to make sure that

         24  the Mayor's decision on this is reversed.

         25                 Thank you all for coming for a very
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          2  enlightening hearing on keeping track of New York

          3  City's children.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 3:27 p.m.)
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